# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Faith Breen

Date

Effects of anthropogenic disturbance and environmental factors on patterns of parasitism in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*)

By

# Faith Breen Master of Science

**Environmental Science** 

Thomas Gillespie, PhD Advisor

Richard Bergl, PhD Committee Member

Julie Clennon PhD Committee Member

Uriel Kitron, PhD Committee Member

Kimberly Arriola, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

April 5, 2023

Effects of anthropogenic disturbance and environmental factors on patterns of parasitism in

Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli)

By

Faith Breen

B.S.

Bucknell University

2020

Advisor: Thomas Gillespie, PhD

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Environmental Science

2023

#### Abstract

Effects of anthropogenic disturbance and environmental factors on patterns of parasitism in

# Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli)

# By: Faith Breen

Deforestation, agricultural expansion, urbanization, expansion of infrastructure, and natural resource exploitation and other forms of anthropogenic disturbance are occurring globally and have devastating effects on the biodiversity of ecosystems. Changes in biodiversity affects many ecosystem processes, including zoonotic diseases. This study investigated the patterns of parasitism, particularly of enteric protozoan and helminthic parasites, in Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli). This study is the first assessment of enteric parasites in Cross River gorillas in Nigeria and examines which environmental or anthropogenic factors affect the prevalence and richness of these parasites. Cross River gorillas are a vulnerable subspecies, that lives in fragmented populations across one of the most densely population regions in Africa. Living in such small and potentially isolated subpopulations exacerbates the risk of potential disease outbreaks. Fecal samples from Cross River gorillas were collected between November 2016 and March of 2018 at three known gorilla localities in Nigeria. These sites are Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (n=89), Mbe Mountains Community Forest (n=96) and the Boshi Extension of Cross River National Park (n=11). These samples were analyzed using standardized parasitological techniques to identify which parasite taxon were present in each sample. The samples were also analyzed using fecal DNA extract and microsatellite genotyping to identify which individual gorilla contributed the sample. Thirty-four individual gorillas were represented, and nine parasite taxa were detected in the samples. Five taxa were commensal entodiniomorph ciliates and four were pathogenic nematodes. Prevalence of Strongyloides sp. was found to vary across sites, with prevalence as high as 75.28% at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, or as low as 21.88% at Mbe Mountains Community Forest. Pathogenic richness was found to vary between the wet and dry season with higher richness in the wet season. Two of the pathogenic nematodes were also found in higher prevalence in the wet season. Strongyloides sp. had a positive relationship with disturbance intensity and Trichostrongylus sp. had a negative relationship. There is no clear relationship between anthropogenic disturbance and parasites richness, which reflects complex ecological mechanisms.

# Effects of anthropogenic disturbance and environmental factors on patterns of parasitism in

Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli)

By

Faith Breen

B.S.

**Bucknell University** 

2020

Advisor: Thomas Gillespie, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Environmental Science

2023

# Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my deepest thanks to my advisor, Dr. Thomas R. Gillespie, for providing guidance and support during this research. I am highly appreciative of his, patience, knowledge, and expertise.

I would also like to thank Dr. Uriel Kitron, Dr. Richard Bergl, and Dr. Julie Clennon for serving as my thesis committee members. They were always available for questions, feedback, and support.

I thank Dr. Richard Bergl and Wildlife Conservation Society Nigeria (especially Inaoyom Imong) for coordinating the fieldwork that produced the gorilla diagnostic samples used in this study, I also thank Mimi Arandjelovic for biobanking and coordinating shipment of samples. I am also grateful to the Government of Nigeria and the Federal Ministry of Environment for granting permission to conduct research at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest and Cross River National Park. A special thanks goes to the dog handlers Aimee Hurt and Ngaio Richards, and the Working Dogs for Conservation (Lily, Orbee and Wicket). who conducted a majority of the fieldwork. I also thank the many WCS and local field assistants who facilitated the surveys.

I thank the Wildlife Conservation Society Nigeria team for sharing the SMART patrol data (particularly Andrew Dunn and Frank Erhabor). Additionally, I am grateful to the many rangers who are a part of these patrols and working each day to collect information to aid in the conservation of such an incredible ecosystem.

A special thanks to Dr. Jessica Deere at Emory University (Atlanta, Georgia) for providing her time and assistance in the statistical analyses of my data. I sincerely appreciate her taking the time to answer my questions and share resources regarding parasitology analysis and statistical modeling.

I am extremely appreciative of the Department of Environmental Sciences at Emory University for awarding me the James G. Lester Research Scholarship that was used to fund this research. Further funding for this work was provided by the US Fish and Wildlife Service, the North Carolina Zoological Society, and the Wildlife Conservation Society.

# Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Anthropogenic Disturbance and Fragmentation	1
1.2 Zoonotic Disease Risks	4
1.3 Disease in Great Apes	5
1.4 Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli)	6
2. Purpose and Hypotheses	11
3. Materials and Methods	
3.1 Study Sites	
3.2 Sample collection	14
3.3 Parasitology analysis	14
3.4 Human disturbance SMART Patrol Data	15
3.5 Spatial Analysis	16
3.6 Statistical Analysis	16
4. Results	
4.1 Sample demographics	
4.2 Parasite prevalence	
4.3 Parasite richness	
4.4 Disturbance	25
4.5 Model results	
5. Discussion	
6. References	
7. Tables	54
Table 1	54
Table 2	56
Table 3	57
Table 4	58
Table 5	58
Table 6	59
Table 7	60
Table 8	60
Table 9	61

	Table 10	. 62
	Table 11	. 62
	Table 12	. 63
	Table 13	. 64
	Table 14	. 64
	Table 15	. 65
	Table 16	. 66
8.1	Figures	. 67
	Figure 1	. 68
	Figure 2	. 70
	Figure 3	. 71
	Figure 4	. 72
	Figure 5	. 73
	Figure 6	. 74
	Figure 7	. 75
	Figure 8	. 76
	Figure 9	. 77
	Figure 10	. 78
	Figure 11	. 79
	Figure 12	. 80
	Figure 13	. 81
	Figure 14	. 82
	Figure 15	. 82
	Figure 16	. 84
	Figure 17	. 85
	Figure 18	. 86
	Figure 19	. 87
	Figure 20	. 87
	Figure 21	. 89
	Figure 22	. 90
	Figure 23	. 91
	Figure 24	. 92
	Figure 25	. 93

Figure 26	93
Figure 27	94

#### 1. Introduction

#### **1.1 Anthropogenic Disturbance and Fragmentation**

Humans are drastically altering landscapes on a global scale leading to disturbance of ecosystems that species rely on for survival (Gottdenker et. al. 2014). Forms of anthropogenic disturbance may include deforestation, agricultural expansion, urbanization, expansion of infrastructure, and natural resource extraction (Gottdenker et. al. 2014). It is estimated that humans have disturbed more than 70% of the terrestrial landscape (Díaz et. al. 2019). Cropland and other agricultural areas alone account for 40% of global land surface (Foley et. al. 2005). The consequences of this disturbance may include transformations of the landscape, shifts in biogeochemical cycles, extinctions of species, or invasions of species (Jaureguiberry et. al. 2022). Land use change in some cases has negatively impacted ecological structure and function (Foley et. al. 2005). Such disturbance and associate pollution has led to a 20% decline in vegetative productivity with the potential to reduce drop yields by up to 50% by 2050 (Ambe and Obeten 2020). These consequences as a whole have led to declines in natures capacity to support our quality of life as measured by 14 of the 18 categories of nature's contributions to people calculated by the Intergovernmental Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (Díaz et. al. 2019).

Changing land-use has resulted in a loss of between seven to 11 million km<sup>2</sup> of forest in the past 300 years (Foley et. al. 2005). Pressure on the land has never been higher, logging for timber has increased by 50% since 1970 globally, and agricultural production has essentially tripled (Díaz et. al. 2019). Land use change, primarily for rangeland and agriculture, and exploitation of natural resources, for example for fishing, logging, hunting, and wildlife trade have been the two top global drivers of biodiversity loss (Jaureguiberry et. al. 2022). Less than half of the globe's tropical forests remain as undisturbed as they were in 1989 (Okoro and Ogbuefi 2016). Anthropogenic land-use expansion threatens the productivity, biomass, structure and species composition and diversity of ecosystems (Foley et. al. 2005). The breaking up of larger swaths of forest into smaller fragmented patches is referred to as forest fragmentation, which may result in isolated patches that disrupt biological functional diversity (Barlow et. al. 2016). Forest fragmentation may expose species to more human activity, and threaten ecosystem resilience (Fitz et. al. 2022). The isolation of patches increases risk of both environmental and demographic stochasticity and limits the mobility of a population in response to threats (Sawyer 2012). If species diversity and ecological processes in a certain forest fragment are severely disrupted, that patch risks losing ecological integrity and conservation value (Gillespie and Chapman 2006).

Disturbance within a tropical forest may not be as visible on a broad scale, for example via remote sensing analysis, but may still introduce changes in ecosystem functions and species diversity (Barlow et. al. 2016). Human disturbance within a forest may include selective logging, wildfires, harvesting of non-timber forest products (NTFP), and poaching (Barlow et. al. 2016, Tchakoudeu Kehou et. al. 2021). Any type of within forest disturbance is increasing the threat to animals by increasing human access to remote areas where species were once undisturbed, and may reduce the survival and reproductive rates (Sawyer 2012, Kuthyar et. al. 2021).

Fragmentation of wildlife populations may result from a loss of either structural or functional connectivity. Structural connectivity refers strictly to the physical qualities of the landscape, where functional connectivity considers not only the quality of habitat but the behavioral response of the population in question (Imong et. al. 2014b). The size, shape and degree of isolation of a fragment as well as different biological characteristics (for example species density and diversity) have dramatic effects on sustaining ecosystem processes and species survival (Gillespie and Chapman 2006). In a fragmented landscape, patch size is a main factor that limits population size, as it is likely related to availability of food resources (Arroyo-Rodriguez and Dias 2010). As patches or populations become more isolated and distinct, migration to other sites becomes increasingly more difficult and human disturbance pressures may become exacerbated (Fitz et. al. 2022). In small and isolated habitats, disturbance and degradation lead to more rapid changes in ecosystem processes and greater loss in biodiversity, this is often referred to as ecosystem decay (Chase et. al. 2020). Small populations are more susceptible to losses in genetic diversity quicker than large populations because of genetic drift and inbreeding, and a population with lower genetic diversity will have lower fitness and worse health overall (Bergl et. al. 2008).

Land and sea use change, exploitation of natural resources, pollution, invasive species and climate change are damaging biodiversity at unprecedented rates (Jaureguiberry et. al. 2022). Widespread disturbance and degradation of habitats are having a catastrophic influence on the extinction and decline or many species, especially mammalian herbivores (Yager et. al. 2022). Terrestrial ecosystems are estimated to have lost 20% of their biodiversity (Díaz et. al. 2019). Currently 18% of all mammal species are threatened with extinction, with a disproportionate amount being large bodied mammals (Vitousek et. al. 1997). Of all non-human primate species, around 60% are threatened by extinction and 75% are declining in population size, and all great ape species are listed as either endangered or critically endangered (Bergl et. al. 2012, Alonso et. al. 2020). It's estimated that 75% of this group has been uprooted from their original habitat ranges, and nearly all have lost at least 30% of their home ranges (Ceballos et. al. 2017, Díaz et. al. 2019). Habitat destruction and hunting are two main factors threatening the persistence of primate populations (Arroyo-Rodriguez and Dias 2010, Bonnell et. al. 2010, De Vere et. al. 2011). Most primates live in small forest fragments within isolated protected areas (Goldberg et. al. 2008). Across Africa, the fragments where primates are found have an area too small to sustain healthy

populations, more than 65% of these fragments are less than 1 km<sup>2</sup> (Bergl et. al. 2012). Primates are particularly vulnerable to negative consequences of fragmentation because of their large body size and slow reproduction (Sawyer 2012, Tchakoudeu Kehou et. al. 2021). Disturbance like logging can directly affect primate populations by reducing availability of trees that are food sources (Gillespie et. al. 2009). Poaching of any species may affect primates in the habitat by increasing stress and changing behavioral responses, disruptions to habitat or community structure, or introducing diseases from hunters (Sawyer 2012).

#### **1.2 Zoonotic Disease Risks**

75% of human diseases have links to livestock or wildlife (Foley et. al. 2005). Emerging infectious diseases in particular are dominated by spillovers from wildlife, and are occurring more and more frequently (Jones et. al. 2008, Civitello et. al. 2015). Diseases like SARS, Ebola, and Lyme disease are all caused by pathogens that originated in wildlife and have impacted humans across the globe (Chapman et. al. 2005, Jones et. al. 2008). More than two billion people each year are affected by soil transmitted helminth infections, with many individuals concentrated in tropical, developing countries but the same parasitic worms also affect livestock and wildlife (Yaro et. al. 2018, Barelli et. al. 2019).

A study of North American wildlife pathogens found that 55% of outbreaks in wildlife populations were a result of human involvement (Chapman et. al. 2005). Changing habitats results in differing abundances, demographies, behaviors, and movements of species which impacts the contact between host species and vectors as well as community composition (Gottdenker et. al. 2014). There are established patterns of zoonotic disease emergence occurring as a result of a change in ecology of the host species or the parasite (Chapman et. al. 2005). Expanding anthropogenic disturbance such as road and dam construction, or expanding agricultural areas blurs interspecies boundaries creating more overlap between humans, livestock and wildlife which modifies the transmission of infectious disease leading to more outbreaks (Foley et. al. 2005, Chapman et. al. 2005). The close proximity of hosts, vectors and reservoir hosts increases the risk of infection by pathogens contaminating shared water sources, soil or food sources (Sirima et. al. 2021). Behaviors that may put humans more at risk of transmitting zoonotic diseases include, hunting and butchering of bushmeat, tending to livestock, fetching water from an open source, or any other activity that increases contact with wildlife or livestock (Goldberg et. al. 2008, Medkour et. al. 2020).

#### **1.3 Disease in Great Apes**

The health of non-human primates is of particular concern given their role as reservoir hosts in disease systems like HIV and malaria (Bonnell et. al. 2010). Intestinal parasite load can be used as a proxy for primate health because certain parasite species can be found across many primate species and may reduce the fitness of an animal by affecting host survival and reproduction (Chapman et. al. 2005, Masi et. al. 2012). Intestinal parasite infections in wild primates can either be asymptomatic or have adverse health effects including inflammation of mucus, diarrhea, ulcers, blood loss, abortion, weight loss, and even death (Chapman et. al. 2005, Gillespie and Chapman 2006, Masi et. al. 2012). In less severe instances, the nutritional absorption of the host is impaired which then requires more energy to be expended on tasks like foraging and feeding, both of which decrease fitness (Chapman et. al. 2005). Of gastrointestinal parasites, helminths and protozoans, such as entodiniomorph ciliates are most common in primates (Goussard et. al. 1983, Ashford et. al. 1996, Chapman et. al. 2005). In some studies of parasitism in wild non-human primates great apes were found to be infected more frequently than monkeys (Medkour et. al. 2020).

Anthropogenic disturbance in primate habitat can alter patterns of enteric parasites like helminths and protozoans (Goldberg et. al. 2008). Some cases indicated that disturbance and fragmentation lead to increased parasite prevalence and richness (Gillespie and Chapman 2006, Zommers et. al. 2013, Pafčo et. al. 2017). Studies also found that different bacteria, like Giardia and E.coli, were more prevalent in primates in habitats closer to humans and showed more genetic overlap with the bacteria sampled from those human populations and their livestock (Goldberg et. al. 2008, Kuthyar et. al. 2021). However, this has not been proven to be a uniform relationship as opposite associations or no effect has been observed as well and further investigations are necessary (Barelli et. al. 2019). Human disturbance may alter the behavior of wild non-human primates and thus creates greater risk of transmission. For example, if a primate leaves a forested patch to pursue resources like food and water and must pass through more human adapted areas like pasture or rangeland they may come into contact with livestock feces or infected soils that they otherwise would not be exposed to (Goldberg et. al. 2008). If there is increased human activity in a forest and there are created trails, primates may exhibit increased ground use which creates a greater disease risk from soil-transmitted parasites (Zommers et. al. 2013, Medkour et. al. 2020). Additionally, habitat loss and anthropogenic disturbance may lead to higher population density and restricted resource availability which may cause increased stress and decreased immune function in a primate and facilitate easier transmission and infections (Barelli et. al. 2019). In general, the stresses of increasing anthropogenic disturbance may have negative effects on body condition and health of a primate and may result in increasing parasite loads (Thatcher et. al. 2018).

### 1.4 Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli)

The area surrounding the border between Cameroon and Nigeria is a biodiversity hotspot, home to animals such as forest elephants, the Cameroon-Nigeria Chimpanzee, many insects, birds, and amphibians as well as the critically endangered Cross River gorilla, Gorilla gorilla diehli (Dunn et. al. 2014, Okoro and Ogbuefi 2016). This area is also one of the most densely populated regions in Africa, where many groups of people are dependent on resources from the forest (Nkemnyi et. al. 2013, Imong et. al. 2014a, Okoro and Ogbuefi 2016). The forest provides essential goods for the region like medicine, timber, non-timber forest products and bushmeat (Akenji et. al. n.d.). The Cross River State of Nigeria is expected to continue to see an increase in human population and activity, with potentially up to an eightfold increase in population from 2000 to 2050 (Krause et. al. 2019). With the expanding human population, there's also expansion of urban areas, agricultural areas, and infrastructure like roads, into the natural forested areas as well as socioeconomic demand for forest products (Krause et. al. 2019, Fitz et. al. 2022). In fact, the pressures of human expansion in the region has led to a loss of nearly 50,000 ha of forest in the Cross River State between 2001-2016 (Krause et. al. 2019). Nigeria has lost about 90% of forest areas, and deforestation persists with a loss of about 400,000 ha each year (Enuoh and Ogogo 2018). On the Cameroonian side of the border, around 170,000 km<sup>2</sup> of forest had either been logged or allocated for logging by the year 2000, with timber products representing a significant portion of the Cameroonian economy (Sawyer 2012). It is now estimated that Cameroon loses about 220,000 ha of forest cover each year (Nkemnyi et. al. 2013). Deforestation, timber extraction, and illegal hunting all disrupt areas of quality forest where fauna species may seek refuge (Krause et. al. 2019).

The Cross River gorillas are an elusive and understudied subspecies of gorilla that reside about 200 kilometers north west of other gorilla species in an area of about 12,000 km<sup>2</sup> that ranges in elevation from around 200 to 2000 kilometers above sea level (Bergl and Vigilant 2006, Dunn et. al. 2014). They are one of the worlds most endangered primates and classified as Critically Endangered by the IUCN (Sawyer and Brashares 2013, Dunn et. al. 2014). Though they are spread across a wide area, Cross River gorillas only inhabit around 700 km<sup>2</sup> in a patchy distribution of about thirteen localities across nine distinct sites (Dunn et. al. 2014). Cross River gorillas endure a more pronounced dry and wet season than at any other locality (Bergl and Vigilant 2006, Wade and Malone 2021). Given their status as selective frugivore-folivores, their large body size, and dietary requirements Cross River gorillas have high area requirements and a higher required area per unit biomass than some other species (Sawyer 2012, Etiendem and Tagg 2013). Cross River gorillas travel around 1.5 km each day with food availability dominating day-to-day movement decisions as they spend more than 40% of the day feeding (Sawyer and Brashares 2013, Etiendem and Tagg 2013, Imong et. al. 2014a)

There are three subpopulations of Cross River gorilla, one central population which encompasses many of the known localities, a small eastern population, and a small western population (Bergl and Vigilant 2006). The central population is mainly structurally cohesive, while the western population at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary is cut off and isolated by agricultural areas and a busy highway (Bergl and Vigilant 2006, Bergl et. al. 2012). The eastern subpopulation at Kagwene Gorilla sanctuary is connected to the central population in one small area, but is mostly surrounded by human disturbed areas such as farmland (Bergl and Vigilant 2006). The main central population has more genetic diversity than either of the two small populations, but there is still some evidence of mobility and migration between populations (Bergl and Vigilant 2006, Bergl et. al. 2008).

Given that the landscape across the montane Cameroon-Nigeria border where Cross River gorillas reside is seemingly intact forest, it's important to understand why the species distribution is so restricted and patchy (Bergl et. al. 2012, Dunn et. al. 2014). Studies have found that Cross River gorilla presence is negatively correlated with signs of human activity like hunting, or roads and more common in areas with rugged, steep slopes that humans cannot access as easily (Sawyer 2012, Bergl et. al. 2012, Sawyer and Brashares 2013, Tchakoudeu Kehou et. al. 2021). Factors like elevation, distance from villages, and slope steepness are all indicative of an avoidance of humans for safety and security (Etiendem et. al. 2013). The risk of mortality and stress in areas with more hunting, may outweigh the potential benefits of new habitat and new resources (Imong et. al. 2014b). Food availability is another strong predictor of suitable Cross River gorilla habitat, one study used some of the most common herbaceous food species as a good model for habitat selection (Sawyer and Brashares 2013, Wade and Malone 2021). Within steep slopes, Cross River gorillas show a preference in their nesting ecology for areas with some light gaps and clearings, which usually have a more herbaceous understory with vegetation to eat (De Vere et. al. 2011, Wade and Malone 2021). Cross River gorillas will avoid grasslands and farms, which reduces potential suitable habitat (De Vere et. al. 2011) Human disturbance within the region may restrict the Cross River gorilla functional connectivity, which poses a threat of isolating smaller localities even though there is a considerable amount of suitable habitat across the landscape (Dunn et. al. 2014, Imong et. al. 2014b, Wade and Malone 2021).

Cross River gorillas are continually hunted for meat as part of the bushmeat industry. Some studies indicate that around 1-3 Cross River gorillas are killed annually though this is likely an underestimate (Sawyer 2012). The high market values for both body parts and meat from great apes incentivizes hunting them, with especially high pressure on bushmeat coming from visitors and tourists (Nkemnyi et. al. 2013). Additionally, only five of the sites where Cross River gorillas are located are designated as protected areas (Dunn et. al. 2014). Other unprotected areas, like community forests remain open to community members for uses including hunting, as long as

endangered animals are not hunted (Krause et. al. 2019). Despite Cross River gorillas being designated as a protected species in both Nigeria and Cameroon, laws about which species are not to be hunted are not well understood in some areas, or not strictly and uniformly enforced (Krause et. al. 2019). Losing only 1-3 individuals each year may seem insignificant, but with such small and potentially isolated subpopulations even losing a few gorillas poses a threat to sustaining that locality (Dunn et. al. 2014).

# 2. Purpose and Hypotheses

Better understanding of the relationship between anthropogenic disturbance and primate health is critical for conservation of this group of mammals. While there hasn't been any recorded cases of disease devastating Cross River gorilla localities, the small size of the subpopulations creates an increased risk if disease is introduced (Dunn et. al. 2014). Additionally, with the considerable habitat overlap between the Cross River gorillas, other wildlife, livestock, and humans, disease should be a major consideration in conservation endeavors as human disturbance has been proven to alter the transmission of parasites within other primates (Gillespie and Chapman 2006, Zommers et. al. 2013, Pafčo et. al. 2017). More research is needed on potential disease within Cross River gorillas especially considering how vulnerable each subpopulation is and how pervasive human disturbance is across the landscape.

I investigated the prevalence and species richness of enteric parasites in Cross River gorillas at three sites in Nigeria, the Mbe Mountains Community Forest, the Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park. These sites have varying levels of human activity, such as hunting, trapping, NTFP collection, and logging, in and around them from local villages.

My main objectives for the study are to determine in Cross River gorillas, *Gorilla gorilla diehli*, in my study sites:

- If enteric parasite prevalence is affected by varying human activity in the habitat
- If enteric parasite species richness is affected by varying human activity in the habitat
- The influence of altitude on enteric parasite prevalence and species richness
- The influence of season on enteric parasite prevalence and species richness

I hypothesize that:

- Both pathogenic parasite prevalence and pathogenic richness will be higher in sites that have higher levels of human disturbance because of increased stress for Cross River gorillas and increased interspecies overlap (Zommers et. al. 2013, Thatcher et. al. 2018, Kuthyar et. al. 2021).
- At higher altitudes pathogenic parasite prevalence and pathogenic richness will decline because of decreased accessibility for humans (Barelli et. al. 2019).
- Seasonality will affect pathogenic parasite prevalence and pathogenic richness because of changes in Cross River gorilla diet and behavior, there will be higher infection rates in the dry season because of lower quality resource availability (Etiendem and Tagg 2013, Pafčo et. al. 2017).

#### **3. Materials and Methods**

#### 3.1 Study Sites

My study sites are in the Cross River State, the montane borderland in the southeastern corner of Nigeria (Figure 1). The Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (6.3086° N, 8.9908° E) is estimated to have a population of 25-30 Cross River gorillas. It is surrounded by 16 villages, with a population of about 27,000 people and is known to be encroached on by farming, logging, and bush fires. The Mbe Mountains Community Forest (6.2212° N, 9.0678° E) is also estimated to sustain a population of 25-30 gorillas. This site is one of the best studied Cross River gorilla localities, has generally less anthropogenic pressure than other sites, and is surrounded by a population of about 9,000 people (Dunn et. al. 2014). Okwa hills in Cross River National Park (5.5805° N, 8.7481° E) is connected to Central Takamanda National Park in Cameroon and the 15-30 gorillas in this locality range between the two. The more northern portion of Cross River National Park, the Boshi Extension, sustains 20-25 gorillas. The park is surrounded by 29,000 people and has some village enclaves within the park borders that bisect the park and hinder connectivity of the two populations. Poaching, trapping and bush fires are all prevalent despite the park's protected status (Dunn et. al. 2014).

These sites range in altitude from as low as 130m to as high as 1,700m. Vegetation in the area changes along an altitudinal gradient with moist semi-deciduous tropical forest in lowlands, and montane forest at higher altitudes (Dunn et. al. 2014). And all sites have a very long dry season (November-March) with an intense rainy season (March-November) where average annual rainfall ranges from 2000 mm to 3000 mm (Fitz et. al. 2022).

#### 3.2 Sample collection

From November 2016 to March of 2018, fresh fecal samples were noninvasively collected from Cross River gorillas at the study sites in Nigeria, 136 from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, 41 from Boshi Extension of Cross River National Park, nine from Okwa Hills, and 142 from Mbe Mountains Community Forest. Samples along trails or at nest sites that were identified as fresh (<1-3days old) were collected by a collaborative team from Working Dogs for Conservation and the Wildlife Conservation Society following established protocols (Arandjelovic et. al. 2015). The samples were divided into multiple aliquots, one contained 2g of feces and 10 ml of 10% buffered formalin and was shipped to the Emory University in the United States for parasitology analyses. Another aliquot was prepared using a two-step ethanol-silica procedure outlined by Nsubuga et. al. (2004) and was shipped to Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology in Germany for individual gorilla identification using fecal DNA extract and microsatellite genotyping (Nsubuga et. al. 2004, Arandjelovic et. al. 2015). From this STR amplification 61% of samples produced a successful individual identification. Samples came from 34 individual Cross River gorillas, 22 of those individuals were identified multiple times and 12 were only identified once.

#### **3.3 Parasitological analyses**

Gastrointestinal parasites were isolated from the fecal samples via sodium nitrate flotation and sedimentation using techniques established as the standard (Gillespie 2006). During floatation, samples are centrifuged in distilled water to rinse the formalin, and then centrifuged in sodium nitrate which causes the small, lightweight parasites to float to the top and stick to an affixed cover slide. The cover slide is then analyzed under a compound microscope and parasites are identified based on morphology (size, shape, and contents of the egg and/or larvae) at 40x magnification. A drop of Lugol's iodine may be added to the slide for increased definition to facilitate identification. The sample is then processed for sedimentation by washing with a soap solution to extract parasites from the sediment. After washing, the sample is strained using a cheesecloth and allowed to settle in the soap solution until the particulates gather and can be pipetted onto a slide for parasite identification, again based on morphology of the helminth eggs, larvae, and protozoal cysts under 40x magnification. One floatation slide, and one sedimentation slide from each sample are used as indicators representative of the whole sample.

For each individual slide the number of parasite taxon present was counted. Thus for each slide infection status, species richness and parasitic load were all measured where richness is defined as the number of unique species found in the sample and parasitic load is the number of adult individuals for protozoan species or the number of eggs for helminth species (Zommers et. al. 2013). Though parasite richness is not a direct indicator of disease risk, since some parasite species are benign or even beneficial, it is an important metric for understanding primate health and infection status (Benavides et. al. 2012, Young et. al. 2013, Johnson et. al. 2013, Deere et. al. 2021).

#### **3.4 Human disturbance SMART Patrol Data**

In collaboration with the Wildlife Conservation Society, rangers on the ground at sites in Nigeria can use SMART (Spatial Monitoring and Reporting Tools) technology to aid their conservation monitoring. This technology relies on smartphones to track where patrols go and record all the data they collect. This technology is currently in use in 65 countries, and for the sites in Cross River gorilla habitat it's used to track human disturbance in the area which has helped increase the efficiency of law enforcement in the area. The use of SMART technology has facilitated a significant increase in patrol effort (67%), and a lessening of hunting pressure (71%) (*North Carolina Zoo: Conservation and Research Report* 2020). The data is logged with spatial coordinates and the rangers can also indicate what type of threat they observed and what action they took.

# 3.5 Spatial Analyses

Both the fecal samples collected from the Cross River gorillas and SMART Patrol Data had accompanying spatial coordinates that were imported into QGIS for spatial analysis ("QGIS" 2022). For each fecal sample, a radius of 1.5 kilometers was created using the *buffer* tool. This {Citation}. Next using the *count points in polygon* tool, the number of disturbance data points, collected by the SMART patrols, were counted for each respective fecal sample. This metric was used to gauge how many disturbance points were within the average daily travel distance radii and used to quantify human disturbance. The range of this metric is 0 to 386 logged disturbances with an average of 254 disturbances.

Altitudinal data was also imported into QGIS to determine the altitude of each individual sample. The data came from the Terrain layer, a dynamic world elevation layer published by Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI) and the *Sample Raster Values* processing algorithm was used to calculate each value ("Terrain" 2022). The altitudes of each sample ranges from 215m to 1754m with an average of 687m.

#### **3.6 Statistical Analyses**

Statistical Analyses were conducted in R studio 1.4 (R Core Team 2009). Linear mixed effects models were used to estimate the prevalence of each parasite taxon (Zuur et. al. 2009).

Models were generated using the 'nlme' package and a binomial distribution and REML model fitting (Pinheiro et. al. 2020). This package was used for this portion of analysis because of its flexibility with one sided mixed effect models. GorillaID was included on each model to account for the repeated samplings of individuals and lack of independence to avoid pseudo replication (Millar and Anderson 2004, Waller et. al. 2013, Pollet et. al. 2015). These models were also used to estimate parasite richness. Parasite richness was analyzed by distinguishing commensal parasites from pathogenic parasites and treating each as a separate variable. Species included in the commensal richness variable are: *Troglodytella sp., Gorillaphicus sp.,* unidentified "Type A" entodiniomorph ciliate, unidentified "Type B" entodiniomorph ciliate, and *Prototapirella sp., Strongyloides sp.,* and *Trichostrongylus sp..* 

Mixed effects models were used to determine if there were differences in parasite prevalence and richness among the sites. Mixed effects models were also used to investigate any differences in parasite richness between the wet and dry season. After each model was run a mixed model analysis of variance (mixed model ANOVA) to detect any variance between sites, this is a common for longitudinal data with repeated measures but allows for more flexibility than a repeated measures ANOVA (Frey 2018). Next the 'emmeans' package was used for simultaneous pairwise comparisons among the sites which uses the Tukey adjustment by default (Lenth et. al. 2023).

The relationship between parasite richness (the number of different types of parasites) and level of anthropogenic disturbance was assessed with generalized linear mixed models using the *glmmTMB* package with a Conway-Maxwell-Poisson distribution and a log-link function (Frey 2018). The model was run using the complete parasite species richness, and then run again using

commensal species richness and then pathogenic species richness. Additionally, the relationship between each individual parasite taxon and anthropogenic disturbance was assessed using the *glmmTMB* package with a binomial distribution with a logit link function. Presence or absence of each taxon was used as the response variable. Exploratory data analysis was conducted before any model fitting to determine a priori what distribution would be most appropriate and what biological variables would be tested (Zuur et. al. 2010, Smith et. al. 2020). There were mild issues of underdispersion in Poisson and negative binomial distributions, so the Conway-Maxwell-Poisson distribution was selected for its flexibility with underdispersion (dispersion parameter = 0.64) (Lynch et. al. 2014, Huang 2017). The log link function ensures positive fitted values. To help with model convergence, the numeric variables were centered and scaled using the mean and standard deviation, a common way to compare data that is measured at different scales (Smith et. al. 2020, Deere et. al. 2021). Models included the daily travel distance disturbance metric (continuous), Altitude (continuous), Sex of the individual (categorical with two levels) and Season (categorical with two levels) as fixed effects. The variable season was determined using the date the sample was collected. If the sample was collected in November through March, it was categorized as being in the dry season, if it was collected in the other months (April through October) it was categorized as being in the rainy or wet season (Fitz et. al. 2022). The number of samples collected from each site (categorical with 3 levels) was also included as a fixed effect to control for the skewed number of samples from Afi and Mbe (n = 111 for each site) compared to the number from the Boshi extension (n = 13). The number of samples contributed by each individual was also included as a fixed effect to control for unequal sampling from individuals, this variable was categorical with 34 levels. To control for the dependence in sampling, Gorilla ID (categorical with 34 levels) was included as a random intercept effect so that repeated samples

from the same individual and uneven sampling was accounted for. Additionally, the date sampled was included as a second random intercept effect to control for temporal dependence. The model is of the form:

# Richness<sub>ijk</sub>~Conway-Maxwell-Poisson.(µ<sub>ijk</sub>)

 $E(Richness_{ijk}) = \mu_{ijk}$ 

 $log(\mu_{ijk}) = DisturbanceDailyDistance_{ijk} + Altitude_{ijk} + Sex_{ijk} + SampleCounts_{ijk} +$ IndividualSampleCounts\_{ijk} + Seasonijk + GorillaID\_i + Date\_j GorillaID\_i~N(0, \sigma^2\_{GorillaID}) Date\_i~N(0, \sigma^2\_{Date})

Equation 1. A Conway-Maxwell-Poisson GLMM where Richness<sub>ikj</sub> is the *k*th observation from individual *i*, and i = 1, ..., 23 on date *j* and GorillaID<sub>i</sub> and Date<sub>j</sub> are the random intercepts, which is assumed to be normally distributed with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma^2$ 

Model diagnostics were conducted using the DHARMa and performance packages (Hartig and Lohse 2022, Lüdecke et. al. 2023). Generalized Variance Inflation Factors were calculated using the function 'check\_collinearity' of the performance package to check the collinearity of the covariates. All variance inflation factors were less than three, though the 95% confidence interval for the daily travel distance disturbance metric was quite broad (VIF= 1.03~95% CI=1.00, 5.40) (Zuur et. al. 2010). Site was not included as a fixed effect in the model because of high collinearity values that cause the model to fail, nor was it included as a random effect because there are not enough levels (n =3) for it to be meaningful, additionally there was little change in the coefficients when site was added or removed (Bolker 2015). Spatial dependence from the fecal samples was assessed with a spline correlogram using the ncf package (Bjornstad and Cai 2023). A spline correlogram plots an index of spatial autocorrelation against distance to examine patterns of autocorrelation among model residuals. The ncf package uses a generalization of the Mantel correlogram which is a classic multivariate method to estimate spatial covariance data (BjØrnstad and Falck 2001). From this analysis, it was determined that the model accounted for any spatial autocorrelation compared to the raw data and there were no significant problems detected. Model residuals were plotted against fitted values, against each covariate in the model, and against each covariate not in the model to assess model misfit. The final models showed no evidence of overor under-dispersion, and there were no significant problems detected in the model predictions versus standardized residuals. The total sample size for this analysis was 196 observations from 34 individuals across three sites.

# 4. Results

## 4.1 Sample demographics

Three hundred and twenty-eight fecal samples were collected from Cross River gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli) and were screened using parasitological techniques for protozoan and helminthic enteric parasites. Of all the samples, 136 are from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, 41 are from Cross River National Park (CRNP)-Boshi Extension, and 142 are from Mbe Mountains Community Forest and nine from the Okwa Hills region of CRNP. Sample collection started in Afi in December of 2016 and ended in February of 2018. Collection ranged from July 2017 to February 2018 in CRNP-Boshi Extension and November 2016 to February 2018 at Mbe Mountains Community Forest. When the collection date is organized into seasons, 148 of the samples were collected in the dry season and 180 samples were collected in the wet season. From genotypic analysis, 196 samples returned a successful individual identification. The genotyping indicates the samples came from 34 individuals, many of whom supplied multiple samples (Table 1). Individual gorillas may have been sampled only once or as many as 34 times. Eleven of the 34 individual gorillas are from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, 17 are from Mbe Mountains Community Forest and six are from CRNP-Boshi Extension. Of those with Gorilla ID's, 89 samples are from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, 11 from Cross River National Park (CRNP)-Boshi Extension, and 96 from Mbe Mountains Community Forest. In this smaller group of samples, 86 are from the dry season and 110 from the wet season. The altitude of the samples ranged from 215m to 1108m at the Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, 460m to 883m at Mbe Mountains Community Forest and 614m to 1216m at the CRNP-Boshi Extension (Figure 5).

## 4.2 Parasite prevalence

In all samples, four nematodes (Oesophagostomum sp., Necator sp., Trichostrongylus sp., Strongyloides sp.) and five protozoans (Troglodytella sp., Gorillaphicus sp., Prototapirella sp., and two unidentified entodiniomorph ciliates) were detected (Table 2). Across all sites there were more samples where parasites were detected than those where none were found (Figure 3). At both Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and Mbe Mountains community forest all nine parasite taxa were detected (Table 3 and Table 4). At CRNP-Boshi Extension only Prototapirella sp., Strongyloides sp., and Trichostrongylus sp. were observed (Table 5). Overall parasite prevalence as estimated by random effects models varied by taxa, with values as low as 2.26% to 67.79% (Figure 2). Prototapirella sp. and Strongvloides sp. had the highest prevalence across all sites with 67.71% (N=130 samples and 28 individuals) and 43.58% (N=94 samples and 24 individuals) respectively. At CRNP-Boshi Extension and Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Strongyloides sp. had the highest prevalence with 54.14% (N= 6 samples and four individuals) and 75.28% (n = 67 samples and nine individuals). At Mbe Mountains Community Forest, Prototapirella sp. had the highest prevalence with 70.36% (N=62 samples and 9 individuals). A mixed model ANOVA was conducted on each parasite taxon detected, this test indicated that only Strongyloides sp., Trichostrongylus sp., and Troglodytella sp. had site-based differences. Troglodytella sp. ( $\chi^2 =$ 6.2306, df = 2, p = 0.04) returned weaker pairwise differences among sites after simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD test as the greatest disparity between Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and Mbe Mountains Community Forest was marginal (p = 0.969). Neither of the other pairwise comparisons showed differences. Strongyloides sp. also demonstrated site-based variation in prevalence ( $\chi^2 = 71.495$ , df = 2, p < 0.0001). Simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD test revealed that Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and Mbe Mountains Community

Forest were different (p < 0.0001), and CRNP-Boshi Extension and Mbe Mountains Community Forest were different (p = 0.0475) but Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and CRNP-Boshi Extension did not have different distirbutions. Mixed model ANOVA results indicated prevalence of *Trichostrongylus sp.*, was variable across sites as well ( $\chi^2 = 9.3179$ , df = 2, p = 0.009). Simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD test showed that Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and Mbe Mountains Community Forest were different (p = 0.02), and CRNP-Boshi Extension and Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary were marginally different (p = 0.07).

# 4.3 Parasite richness

Overall parasite richness as estimated by random effects models was variable across samples and ranged from zero to five taxa across the study period, with a mean (95%CI) of 1.76 (1.53, 1.99) (n = 196) (Table 6). Richness also varied over time for individuals with repeated samples (Figure 13). Richness was varied across seasons, with a mean (95%CI) richness of 2.16 (1.89, 2.43) in the wet season (n = 110), 1.43 (1.18,1.68) in the dry season (n = 86) (Figure 10). Across sites there was some variation in richness, with a mean (95%CI) of 2.25 (1.94, 2.56) from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (n = 89), 1.09 (0.11. 2.07) from the Boshi extension of CRNP (n = 11), and 1.54 (1.31, 1.78) from Mbe Mountains Community Forest (n =96) (Table 9). Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary had the highest estimated parasite richness and CRNP-Boshi Extension had the lowest (Figure 7). Results of a mixed model ANOVA showed there were differences among sites regarding overall parasite richness ( $\chi^2$  = 16.49, df = 2, p = 0.0002). Simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD test indicated that Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and CRNP-Boshi Extension were different (p = 0.03), and Afi Mountain Wildlife Extension and Mbe Mountains Community Forest were not different (p = 0.39). Results of a mixed model ANOVA revealed there were differences between the wet and dry season regarding overall parasite richness and parasite richness is higher in the wet season ( $\chi^2 = 16.475$ , df = 1, p < 0.0001).

Commensal parasite richness was variable across samples and ranged from zero to four taxa across the study period, with a mean (95%CI) of 1.00 (0.87, 1.14) (n = 196) (Table 7). Richness also varied over time for individuals with repeated samples. Commensal richness was consistent across seasons, with a mean (95%CI) richness of 1.03 (0.85, 1.21) in the wet season (n = 110), and 1.02 (0.82, 1.23) in the dry season (n = 86) (Figure 11). Across sites there was some variation in richness, with a mean (95%CI) of 0.96 (0.77, 1.17) from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (n = 89), 0.46 (0.05, 0.87) from the Boshi extension of CRNP (n = 11), and 1.10 (0.91, 1.30) from Mbe Mountains Community Forest (n =96) (Table 10, Figure 8). Results of a mixed model ANOVA suggested there were differences among sites regarding overall parasite richness ( $\chi^2$  = 5.9105, df = 2, p = 0.05). Simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD test indicated that Mbe Mountains Community Forest and CRNP-Boshi Extension are subtly different (p = 0.08). All other pairwise comparisons did not reveal any other differences between pairs of sites. A mixed model ANOVA regarding differences in commensal between seasons did not indicate any variation across the wet and dry seasons ( $\chi^2$  = 0.0104, df = 1, p = 0.92).

Pathogenic parasite richness was variable across samples and ranged from zero to three taxa across the study period, with a mean (95%CI) of 0.75 (0.55, 0.94) (n = 196) (Table 8). Richness also varied over time for individuals with repeated samples. Commensal richness differed across seasons, with a mean (95%CI) richness of 1.11 (0.87, 1.34) in the wet season (n = 110), and 0.41 (0.27, 0.54) in the dry season (n = 86) (Figure 12). Across sites there was some variation in richness, with a mean (95%CI) of 1.28 (1.09, 1.46) from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (n = 110).

89), 0.63 (0.05, 1.20) from the Boshi extension of CRNP (n = 11), and 0.43 (0.30, 0.57) from Mbe Mountains Community Forest (n =96) (Table 11, Figure 9). A mixed model ANOVA was run to determine if site was a significant determinant of pathogenic parasite richness, results show that there are significant differences among sites ( $\chi^2$  = 48.045, df = 2, p < 0.0001). Subsequently, simultaneous pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD showed that Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and Mbe Mountains Community Forest have different distributions of pathogenic parasite richness (p < 0.0001), and Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary and CRNP-Boshi Extension are marginally different (p = 0.10). There was no difference detected between CRNP-Boshi Extension and Mbe Mountains Community Forest (p = 0.5). The results of a mixed model ANOVA used to determine seasonal differences in pathogenic parasite richness indicate there is a difference between the wet and dry seasons and pathogenic parasite richness is higher in the wet season ( $\chi^2$ = 23.890, df = 1, p < 0.0001).

#### 4.4 Disturbance

The SMART ranger patrol disturbance data had a record of 6630 disturbance observations. Of these observations, hunting (n = 2120) and trapping (n = 2835) were the most common and accounted for nearly 75% of the data (Figure 4). There were 3367 observations from Afi, 1004 from CRNP-Boshi Extension and 1570 from Mbe. The final 689 points were from Okwangwo which is near the CRNP-Boshi Extension. They ranged in distance from around 2 km away from known Cross River gorilla habitat to 12 km.

This data was analyzed spatially to make the daily travel distance metric used to quantify disturbance intensity (Table 12). Across sites there was some variation in this metric with a mean  $(\pm \text{ SD})$  of 281  $\pm$  72 from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (n = 111), 245  $\pm$  62 from the Boshi extension of CRNP (n = 13), and 229  $\pm$  55 from Mbe Mountains Community Forest (n =111)

(Table 13, Figure 6). Afi had the highest disturbance intensity and Mbe had the lowest. A Shapiro-Wilk normality test was run on the data to check for a normal distribution of the disturbance within daily travel distance metric. The test indicated that the data does not have a normal distribution (p < 0.0001). A Kruskal-Wallis test was run to determine if the richness distribution varied among sites. Results from the test indicated that the disturbance within daily travel distance metric is observed to be larger or smaller at different sites ( $\chi^2 = 22.417$ , df = 2, p < 0.0001) (Ruxton and Beauchamp 2008). A Pairwise-Wilcox test was run to determine which pairs of daily travel distance metrics at each site showed differences. The pairwise comparison showed that, only Mbe Mountains Community Forest and Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary were different (p < 0.0001).

#### 4.5 Model results

A random intercept Conway-Maxwell-Poisson GLMM was fitted to data to determine the relationship between total parasite richness in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) and levels of anthropogenic disturbance in the habitat (Table 14, Figure 14). There was a positive relationship between parasite richness and the wet season (p = 0.001). An individual's parasite richness increased by 1.60 units (CI: 1.21, 2.10) per one standard deviation change in season with increases in the wet season specifically. There was a positive relationship between richness and the site sample counts variable, where an individual's parasite richness increases by 1.19 (CI: 1.03, 1.37, p = 0.02). There were weak positive relationships between richness and altitude, as well as richness and sex being male (p = 0.07).

The next model was run with the same format but used to analyze commensal parasite richness (Table 15). This model indicated a significant positive relationship between commensal

richness and site sample counts (p = 0.01). An individual's commensal parasite richness increases by 1.31 (CI: 1.06, 1.61) per one standard deviation change in number of samples per site.

The model run to analyze pathogenic parasite richness had the same format as the previous models (Table 16). There was a positive relationship between parasite richness and season (p < 0.0001). An individual's parasite richness increased by 2.53 units (CI: 1.57, 4.09) per one standard deviation change in season with increases in the wet season specifically.

Of all the individual parasite taxon models run, only *Trichostrongylus sp.* and *Strongyloides sp.* showed any relationships with the predictor variables. *Strongyloides sp.* showed a positive relationship with disturbance intensity (p = 0.01). For disturbance intensity, a one unit increase is associated with a 0.54 unit (CI 0.11, 0.97) increase in the expected log odds of *Strongyloides sp.* presence probability. For season being the wet season compared to dry, a one unit increase is associated with a 1.77 unit (CI: 0.84, 2.7) increase in the expected log odds of *Strongyloides sp.* presence probability (p = 0.02). *Trichostrongylus sp.* reflected a negative relationship with disturbance intensity (p = 0.02). For disturbance intensity, a one unit increase is associated with a 0.49 unit (CI -0.91, -0.08) decrease in the expected log odds of *Trichostrongylus sp.* presence probability. For season being the wet season compared to dry, a one unit increase is associated with a 0.49 unit (CI -0.91, -0.08) decrease in the expected log odds of *Trichostrongylus sp.* presence probability. For season being the wet season compared to dry, a one unit increase is associated with a 1.30 unit (CI: 0.20, 2.4) increase in the expected log odds of *Trichostrongylus sp.* presence probability (p = 0.02).
## 5. Discussion

Of all samples screened, 85.7% contained at least one parasite, and only in two individual gorillas were no parasites detected. Both of those individual gorillas (CRG368 and CRG373) were only screened once. High prevalence of enteric parasites has been reported in Mountain gorillas (Gorilla beringei beringei) and Western Lowland gorillas (Gorilla gorilla gorilla) as well with protozoans and nematodes being the most common (Ashford et. al. 1996, Sleeman et. al. 2000, Freeman et. al. 2004). Additionally, in many past surveys co-infection was common and 54% of samples in this study contained more than one parasite taxon. Prototapirella sp., a commensal entodiniomorph ciliate was one of the most prevalent taxa in the samples and was detected in 67.709% (N=130 samples and 28 individuals). This is a fairly common protozoan and has been reported in similar prevalence in western lowland gorillas (Freeman et. al. 2004, Pafčo et. al. 2017). Strongyloides sp. a potentially pathogenic nematode was also common in this study, found in 43.58% (N=94 samples and 24 individuals). Potentially both Strongyloides stercoralis and Strongyloides fulleborni were observed because both larvae and eggs were detected but were not distinguished in richness or prevalence calculations. In other studies of gorillas, Strongyloides sp. was either not reported or found in lower frequencies (Landsoud-Soukate et. al. 1995, Sleeman et. al. 2000, Kalema-Zikusoka et. al. 2005, Huffman and Chapman 2009).

Commensal ciliate richness in Cross River gorillas at these sites in Nigeria was relatively high compared to apes at other sites. There were five types of symbiotic protozoa (*Troglodytella sp., Gorillaphicus sp.,* unidentified "Type A" entodiniomorph ciliate, unidentified "Type B" entodiniomorph ciliate, and *Prototapirella sp.)* present which aid in digestion and can be used as a general indicator of health (Howells et. al. 2011, Masi et. al. 2012). These ciliates facilitate greater digestion of cellulose, which is common in the diet of Cross River gorillas in the dry season when they ingest more pith and leaves compared to the fruit ingested when it is abundant in the wet season (Landsoud-Soukate et. al. 1995, Masi et. al. 2012). Captive or semi-captive apes may have as few as zero commensal ciliates compared to populations in undisturbed remote areas that can have as many as six symbiotic gut ciliates (Gillespie et. al. 2010, Gillespie unpublished data). Commensal richness was higher at Mbe Mountains Community Forest and Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary than at CRNP-Boshi Extension, though this could be attributed to the limited sample size from CRNP-Boshi Extension and warrants further investigation.

Pathogenic parasite richness included four types of nematodes (Oesophagostomum sp., Necator sp., Strongyloides sp., and Trichostrongylus sp.). These parasites have the potential to have serious negative health consequences in hon-human primates with mucosal inflammation, ulceration, iron deficiency anemia, protein malnutrition, dysentery, weight loss, or even death (McClure and Guilloud 1971, DePaoli and Johnsen 1978, Holmes et. al. 1980, Harper III et. al. 1982). Many of these taxa were reported in other gorilla studies as well, *Oesophagostomum* sp. and Necator sp. are common in western gorillas as well as mountain gorillas (Ashford et. al. 1996, Sleeman et. al. 2000, Freeman et. al. 2004, Masi et. al. 2012). Oesophagostomum sp. and Necator sp. have low prevalence (2.26%, 5 samples and five individuals) but Necator sp. and Strongyloides sp were more common (27.88%, 57 samples and 17 individuals and 43.58% 94 samples and 24 individuals respectively). The presence of these taxa in moderate or even high prevalence is cause for concern and warrants more monitoring for adverse symptoms. Additionally, Oesophagostomum sp., Necator sp. and Strongyloides sp. have been documented in humans as well as apes, and even have demonstrated genetically similar profiles between humans and apes that share the same forest (Hasegawa et. al. 2014, 2016). S. stercoralis, is common in humans but rare in wild primates, but may present because of human activity in the habitat like hunting,

trapping, etc. (Pafčo et. al. 2017, Barelli et. al. 2019). Given the small, isolated nature of these Cross River gorilla localities, the risk of severe infections from these parasites could be devastating. It is paramount to conduct further research to assess if there are any clinical symptoms at these sites that could adversely affect the sustainability of this population.

Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (AMWS) is surrounded by a population of 27,000 people split into 16 villages (Dunn et. al. 2014). Farming is common around the AMWS and may encroach onto the protected land, also there are lots of bush fires in the dry season meant to clear new land. Logging is common in the area, though typically only in the lowlands and not the higher steep slopes preferred by the Cross River gorillas. In recent years there has been a greater push for conservation awareness and decrease in hunting, spurred by a new relationship between the Cross River State Forestry Commission, the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS) and NCZ. This has led to increasing ranger patrols and stricter enforcement, which in the past was uncommon in the area (Dunn et. al. 2014). The patrol data used in this study indicated that Afi had the greatest number of disturbance events, with 3,367 observed disturbances between September 2017 and August 2018. These disturbances led to an average number of disturbances within the average daily distance traveled by a Cross River gorilla of  $281 \pm 72$  which is the highest of the three sites in the study. In the samples from Afi, had Strongyloides sp. in 75.28 % (67 samples 9 individuals) which is significantly higher than at the other two sites. Prevalence of *Trichostrongylus sp.* was also highest at this site (45.49%). Afi also had the highest distribution of pathogenic richness, while commensal richness is comparable to the other sites. Given the history of low enforcement and low engagement with conservation initiatives at this site, as well as low current support, special attention should be paid to the Cross River gorillas of Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary. High prevalence of these parasite taxa, as well as the occurrence of *Oeosophagostomum sp.* and *Necator* 

*sp.*, could represent a significant parasite burden. This burden could be exacerbated by physiological stress from hunting on Afi Mountain and high levels of other human disturbance and adversely affect the viability of this site.

Mbe Mountains Community Forest is east of AMWS but separated by a major road. The site is surrounded by around 10,000 people and though it does not have and official protection designation it is managed by the Conservation Association of the Mbe Mountains (CAMM) and receives support from WCS (Dunn et. al. 2014). It's reported that pressure on the forest from hunting, farming and logging is lower than in surrounding areas and there are strict sanctions in place against hunting great apes (Dunn et. al. 2014, Krause et. al. 2019). The SMART patrol only recorded 1570 disturbance incidents between September 2017 and August 2018. Thus, the average number of disturbances within the average daily distance traveled by a Cross River gorilla is 229  $\pm$  55, which is the lowest of the three sites. This site had a greater distribution of commensal parasite richness than the other two sites as evident from the Pairwise-Wilcox test. Mbe Mountains Community Forest displayed more moderate levels of parasite prevalence and richness, paired with high prevalence of commensals. This baseline surveillance of pathogen surveillance at this site shows a potentially healthy level of parasite diversity.

The CRNP-Boshi extension, the most northern known Cross River gorilla locality, is within the greater Okwangwo division of CRNP that is surrounded by 29,000 people and 39 villages with some villages even bisecting the forest (Dunn et. al. 2014). Given its status as a national park, this area is fully protected though poaching and bush fires are still common. CRNP rangers and WCS staff are working to patrol the region and destroy hunting camps and collect wire snares (Dunn et. al. 2014). SMART patrols logged 1004 disturbance incidents at this locality with another 689 in Okwa Hills, another region of the Okwangwo division. CRNP-Boshi extension

showed the lowest distribution of commensal richness, and an intermediate distribution of pathogenic richness. Any inference on patterns of parasitism at this site is limited by the small number of samples collected. Of the 11 samples tested, there were 6 individuals represented of the 20-25 gorillas that are estimated to inhabit the site as of 2014 (Dunn et. al. 2014). While representation of more individual gorillas is beneficial to gain a deeper understanding of health at the site, repeated testing of individual gorillas is invaluable to provide a more comprehensive perspective and determine patterns over an extended period. Individual gorillas at CRNP-Boshi extension were sampled between one and three times, far fewer than many of the others in the study.

The Cross River region of Nigeria has an intense dry season which is longer than lowland tropical forests where western lowland gorillas reside (Wade and Malone 2021). There was no difference in commensal richness between seasons as evidenced by the generalized linear mixed models. These results may indicate the commensal ciliates are persisting though the dry season to aid in the higher fiber and higher cellulose diets as these commensal ciliates are critical in minimizing nutritional stress faced by the Cross River gorillas when preferred food like fruit is more scarce at the height of dry season (Etiendem and Tagg 2013). Environmental conditions during driers months are not favorable for ciliate persistence in the environment, as they run the risk of drying out and dying if outside the host when it is hot and dry. Thus, the persistence of ciliate richness through the dry season is a favorable result for the nutritional status of Cross River gorillas. Ciliates have also been found in higher abundances in western lowland gorillas during the dry season (Masi et. al. 2012).

Seasonal rainfall may affect patterns of parasitism either by affecting parasite survival in the environment, or in response to changes in host body condition or behavior. In this set of samples, these pathogenic parasites presented higher richness in the wet season than in the dry season as indicated by the results of the generalized linear mixed model which all returned p-values < 0.05. There have been studied of other primates where higher strongyle prevalence and richness was reported in the wet season (Rothman et. al. 2008, Huffman and Chapman 2009, Gillespie et. al. 2010, Benavides et. al. 2012, Petrželková et. al. 2021). Other mammals have shown this trend as well (Waruiru et. al. 2001, Shearer and Ezenwa 2020). The discussion surrounding these seasonal trends usually cites favorable environmental conditions for parasite persistence in fecal pats and soils. During the rainy season the environment is more humid and wet which allows for increased movement of helminth larvae (Stromberg 1997). Warm and moist conditions are necessary for larvae development and movement. There are behavioral changes that have been observed in Cross River gorillas which may indicate a protection from the increased risk of infection during the wet season. Cross River gorillas at Kagwene gorilla sanctuary in Cameroon tend to build night nests on the ground during the dry season and prefer nests in trees during the wet season (De Vere et. al. 2011). Even while in ground nests gorillas tend to surround themselves with herbaceous plants in these ground nests which aims to insulate them from the ground and could serve as a barrier from these infections (Landsoud-Soukate et. al. 1995). The preference for tree nests compared to ground nests seasonally may be an informed choice to minimize ground contact. Western gorillas at Mondika Research center have also been observed to build more nests or perhaps thicker nests, either on the ground or in trees, on rainy days compared to drier days when they may sleep on the bare ground (Mehlman and Doran 2002)

In some studies pathogenic nematodes were detected at higher rates in the dry season in gorillas compared to past studies of chimps where *Oesophagostomum* sp. and other strongyles showed higher rates in the wet season (Masi et. al. 2012, Pafčo et. al. 2017). This pattern likely

reflects a change in resource availability between seasons. It is thought that the dietary changes in gorillas during the dry season are more intense than in chimpanzees whose diet does not change as much. Gorillas are known to shift to a more folivorous diet in the dry season when fruit is scarce, whereas chimpanzees will continue to prefer fruit sources (Landsoud-Soukate et. al. 1995). Cross River gorillas have been observed to consume more leafy, and woody plant sources in the dry season, these sources are available all year but only consumed when fruit availability is low (Oates et. al. 2002). This may lead to more nutritional stress or energy expenditure which creates create susceptibility for strongyle infections (Masi et. al. 2012). The shift to a more herbivorous diet may also increase ground contact and more time spent around rivers and swamps in search of food (Masi et. al. 2012). Perhaps because there is no dry season increase in parasite infections and richness, there is minimal dietary stress on the Cross River gorillas despite their shift in diet. Good host nutrition can increase health status and immune function which minimizes the chance of a serious parasitic infection (Huffman and Chapman 2009). This is supported by the persistence of the entodiniomorph ciliates throughout the year.

Elevation and slope are two frequently discussed determinants of suitable habitat for the Cross River gorillas (De Vere et. al. 2011, Bergl et. al. 2012, Sawyer and Brashares 2013). It is hypothesized that Cross River gorillas preferentially inhabit the higher altitude, precipitously sloped areas of their habitat because human activity is lower in these less accessible areas (Sawyer 2012, Etiendem et. al. 2013). From the data provided by the SMART ranger patrol there were far more disturbance incidents logged at lower altitudes than at higher ones, which may support the idea that there is more human activity in lower altitude, less steep areas compared to the mountainous hillsides the Cross River gorillas favor. Studies of other primates that analyzed the relationship between patterns of parasitism and altitude detected a reduction of parasite richness

in animals at lower altitudes, where there was greater disturbance intensity (Barelli et. al. 2019). There was a weak but positive relationship between altitude and overall parasite richness in the generalized linear mixed model. This relationship was weakened further when commensal richness and pathogenic richness were analyzed individually and neither showed a different pattern. Undoubtedly there are differences in structure, vegetation, and precipitation and other environmental factors that shift over an altitudinal gradient that may affect how parasites persist in the environment as well. Changes in these environmental factors may facilitate greater infections or fewer infections at different altitudes and more site-specific information about tree cover, water availability, etc. is needed. Different types of human activities may also have different influence over parasite richness and prevalence, if there's active farming at lower altitudes that relies on pesticides and fertilizers in the soil there may be a reduction in soil transmitted helminths at lower altitudes which would reflect a different pattern though still determined by human activity (Barelli et. al. 2019). Perhaps looking at steepness of slope may be a more interesting lens to analyze this relationship. Studies that found elevation to be a significant factor in predicting parasite distributions had a much broader range than was reflected by the sample set in this study. The slopes inhabited by Cross River gorillas are far more precipitous than many other populations, whereas their elevation range is more comparable to other gorilla populations. This issue is complex and requires further study to determine what combination of factors is most influential.

Parasite richness and disturbance data were utilized to assess the relationship between enteric parasite communities and anthropogenic disturbance in Cross River gorillas across three sites in Nigeria. The small population size and anthropogenic pressures on the Cross River gorillas make them particularly vulnerable to potential consequences of disease. There is a multitude of literature and reviews that suggests that habitat conservation and biodiversity mitigates disease risk for primates (Arroyo-Rodriguez and Dias 2010, Keesing et. al. 2010, Gottdenker et. al. 2014). This relationship is broadly attributed to the dilution effect and is well documented in some systems such as Lyme disease, and West Nile Virus (Keesing et. al. 2010, Young et. al. 2013, Civitello et. al. 2015). Alternatively, there are mechanisms that may result in an increase in prevalence, and the amplification effect describes how increasing biodiversity may increase disease risk (Keesing et. al. 2006, Young et. al. 2013). There was no relationship found in any of the models between richness and habitat disturbance.

For two of the helminth taxa found disturbance was a significant factor. *Strongyloides sp.* showed a positive relationship with disturbance intensity. This is troubling given the potential adverse symptoms of a Strongyloides sp. infection, and that Stronglyoides stercoralis is generally rare in apes and is definitely anthropozoonotic in origin (Sleeman et. al. 2000, Gillespie and Chapman 2006). More serious infections may result in with mucosal inflammation, ulceration, iron deficiency anemia, protein malnutrition, dysentery, weight loss, or even death and lesser infections may result in a general reduction in host fitness (McClure and Guilloud 1971, DePaoli and Johnsen 1978, Holmes et. al. 1980, Harper III et. al. 1982). In a population of Western Lowland gorillas in Bai Hoku where human density is low, approximately 1 person per km<sup>2</sup>, Strongyloides sp. eggs were found in only 20% of samples. Comparatively, 75.28% of samples from Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary contained Strongyloides sp. At Bwindi Impenetrable National Park in Uganda, the Mountain gorillas there exhibited weight loss, declining body condition and poor haircoats and after being given anthelminthic drugs showed incredible clinical improvements (Petrželková et. al. 2021). Patterns of Strongyloides sp. infection could be altered by human disturbance in several ways. Trails created by humans have been shown to increase ground contact in chimpanzees and thus increased helminth infections (Zommers et. al. 2013). Logging alters the

forest structure which in turn may alter parasite and host ecology, and increased stump density as a measure of disturbance intensity explained nematode infections in red colobus monkeys (Gillespie and Chapman 2006).

The second parasite taxon where site was a significant determinant in presence vs. absence was *Trichostrongylus sp.* which showed a negative relationship with disturbance. The model result indicating a negative relationship is a conflicting result with *Trichostrongylus sp.* following disturbance patterns across sites. *Trichostrongylus sp.* prevalence was highest at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary (45.49%) where disturbance levels were highest and had significantly lower prevalence (20.9%) at Mbe Mountains Community Forest where disturbance intensity was much lower. *Trichostrongylus sp.* is commonly shared between humans and livestock, particularly common in cattle (Craig 2009). Afi has reportedly high levels of farming in the surrounding areas, and may even encroach upon the gorilla habitat in the sanctuary (Dunn et. al. 2014). The disturbance intensity variable used in modeling was heavily influenced by hunting and trapping, which may be less effective predictors of *Trichostrongylus sp.* given its typical association with livestock. Incorporating data more directly linked on site proximity to livestock, or livestock density may help to better define the patterns of *Trichostrongylus sp.*.

Among sites, Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary,had the highest level of disturbance intensity and also had the highest levels of pathogenic parasite richness. The opposite was true for Mbe Mountains Community Forest, which had the lowest disturbance intensity and the highest amount of commensal richness. Afi also has reportedly less support for conservation and poaching restrictions compared to Mbe Mountains Community Forest which has strong community support and awareness (Dunn et. al. 2014). More research is needed to determine the mechanisms of transmission and determine more specifically why there are such high levels of parasite prevalence at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary. Genetic work to identify the species of prasites present will also help to strengthen the understanding of the health risks these populations face. *Necator sp.*, Strongyloides sp. Oesophagostomum sp., and Trichostrongylus sp. can also be found in humans and transmitted between humans and wildlife (Landsoud-Soukate et. al. 1995). Certain species of these taxa are more commonly detected in human populations and other species are more common in wildlife. Determining which species are present will better clarify how much interspecies transmission is occurring, and if there are species present with known pathogenicity, like Strongyloides fuelleborni. The range of results across the literature suggests that zoonotic disease systems can be quite complex with varying mechanisms and ecological forces at play. The results of this study support the idea that parasite systems in primates are complex in nature, and an increase in anthropogenic disturbance may influence certain parasite taxa though there are likely other determinants as well. It is also important to assess which aspects of parasite transmission are being affected by various forms of human disturbance. The hunting and trapping that were so highly reported by SMART patrols, will have different effects on host susceptibility and encounter rates than disturbance from logging for example.

This study represents the first survey of gastrointestinal parasites in Cross River gorillas in Nigeria. By completing a first baseline assessment of patterns of parasitism in this population we have started to build a comprehensive understanding of the health of this threatened species. The longitudinal data with repeated samplings from known individuals provided a robust picture of the patterns of parasitism at these few sites. Inference at CRNP-Boshi Extension was limited by the sample size, and more samples from this site in the future would allow for a more thorough analysis. Further research is needed to determine the transmission mechanisms, particularly for the nematode species (*Oesophagostomum* sp., *Necator sp., Trichostrongylus sp.,* and *Strongyloides* 

*sp.*) that have been found in humans in the past. It would be interesting to sample humans, livestock, and other domestic animals in the area to see if there are similar species compositions, or genetic profiles of the parasites detected. A closer look at the different types of human activity in the region could also show more direct relationships with specific taxa and more specifically identify activity that places this population at risk. Additionally, these three sites in the study are only a few of the thirteen known localities of Cross River gorilla, which are all unique with individual ecologic and anthropogenic settings. Samplings at each site that provided as much data, with as much depth as those in this study could be used to look more broadly at the entire Cross River gorilla population, and determine which subpopulations are most vulnerable. A broader scale may also provide greater insight into anthropogenic influence on the health of these gorillas, given the heterogeneity of the landscape and the communities who inhabit the region both in Nigeria and Cameroon.

- Akenji, L., A. Nchanji, A. Fowler, A. Ekinde, J. Mulema, R. Fotso, and P. Khumbah. (n.d.).Community-Based Monitoring of Cross River Gorillas in South West Region,Cameroon:10.
- Alonso, S. K., M. A. Londono, S. A. Abugiche, and M. J. C. Reid. 2020. Targeting areas of need to successfully implement a One Health project near the Kagwene Cross River Gorilla Sanctuary, in Cameroon. Biodiversity 21:113–117.
- Ambe, B. A., and U. B. Obeten. 2020. Ecosystems Restoration Strategies for the Cross River
   Rainforest Zones. Preparing Forest Stakeholders for the UN Decade on Ecosystems
   Restoration 2021 to 2030. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection 08:16–27.
- Arandjelovic, M., R. A. Bergl, C. Jameson, M. Parker, and L. Vigilant. 2015. Detection dog efficacy for collecting faecal samples from the critically endangered Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) for genetic censusing:14.
- Arroyo-Rodriguez, V., and P. A. D. Dias. 2010. Effects of habitat fragmentation and disturbance on howler monkeys: a review. American Journal of Primatology 72:1–16.
- Ashford, R. W., H. Lawson, T. M. Butynski, and G. D. F. Reid. 1996. Patterns of intestinal parasitism in the mountain gorilla *Gorilla gorilla* in the Bwindi-Impenetrable Forest, Uganda. Journal of Zoology 239:507–514.
- Barelli, C., V. Gonzalez-Astudillo, R. Mundry, F. Rovero, H. C. Hauffe, and T. R. Gillespie.
  2019. Altitude and human disturbance are associated with helminth diversity in an endangered primate, *Procolobus gordonorum*. PLOS ONE 14:e0225142.
- Barlow, J., G. D. Lennox, J. Ferreira, E. Berenguer, A. C. Lees, R. M. Nally, J. R. Thomson, S.F. de B. Ferraz, J. Louzada, V. H. F. Oliveira, L. Parry, R. Ribeiro de Castro Solar, I. C.

G. Vieira, L. E. O. C. Aragio, R. A. Begotti, R. F. Braga, T. M. Cardoso, R. C. de Oliveira, C. M. Souza Jr, N. G. Moura, S. S. Nunes, J. V. Siqueira, R. Pardini, J. M. Silveira, F. Z. Vaz-de-Mello, R. C. S. Veiga, A. Venturieri, and T. A. Gardner. 2016. Anthropogenic disturbance in tropical forests can double biodiversity loss from deforestation. Nature 535:144–147.

- Benavides, J. A., E. Huchard, N. Pettorelli, A. J. King, M. E. Brown, C. E. Archer, C. C.
  Appleton, M. Raymond, and G. Cowlishaw. 2012. From parasite encounter to infection:
  Multiple-scale drivers of parasite richness in a wild social primate population. American
  Journal of Physical Anthropology 147:52–63.
- Bergl, R. A., B. J. Bradley, A. Nsubuga, and L. Vigilant. 2008. Effects of habitat fragmentation, population size and demographic history on genetic diversity: the cross river gorilla in a comparative context. American Journal of Primatology 70:848–859.
- Bergl, R. A., and L. Vigilant. 2006. Genetic analysis reveals population structure and recent migration within the highly fragmented range of the Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*): POPULATION STRUCTURE IN CROSS RIVER GORILLAS. Molecular Ecology 16:501–516.
- Bergl, R. A., Y. Warren, A. Nicholas, A. Dunn, I. Imong, J. L. Sunderland-Groves, and J. F.
  Oates. 2012. Remote sensing analysis reveals habitat, dispersal corridors and expanded distribution for the Critically Endangered Cross River gorilla *Gorilla gorilla diehli*. Oryx 46:278–289.

Bjornstad, O., and J. Cai. 2023, January. ncf: Spatial Covariance Functions. CRAN.

- Bonnell, T. R., R. R. Sengupta, C. A. Chapman, and T. L. Goldberg. 2010. An agent-based model of red colobus resources and disease dynamics implicates key resource sites as hot spots of disease transmission. Ecological Modelling 221:2491–2500.
- Brooks, M., K. Kristensen, K. van Benthem, A. Magnusson, C. Berg, A. Nielsen, H. Skaug, M.
   Maechler, and B. Bolker. 2017. glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among
   Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. The R Journal.
- Ceballos, G., P. R. Ehrlich, and R. Dirzo. 2017. Biological annihilation via the ongoing sixth mass extinction signaled by vertebrate population losses and declines. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114.
- Chapman, C. A., T. R. Gillespie, and T. L. Goldberg. 2005. Primates and the Ecology of their Infectious Diseases: How will Anthropogenic Change Affect Host-Parasite Interactions? Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 14:134–144.
- Chase, J. M., S. A. Blowes, T. M. Knight, K. Gerstner, and F. May. 2020. Ecosystem decay exacerbates biodiversity loss with habitat loss. Nature 584:238–243.
- Civitello, D. J., J. Cohen, H. Fatima, N. T. Halstead, J. Liriano, T. A. McMahon, C. N. Ortega, E.
  L. Sauer, T. Sehgal, S. Young, and J. R. Rohr. 2015. Biodiversity inhibits parasites:
  Broad evidence for the dilution effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112:8667–8671.
- Craig, T. M. 2009. CHAPTER 22 Helminth Parasites of the Ruminant Gastrointestinal Tract.Pages 78–91 *in* D. E. Anderson and D. M. Rings, editors. Food Animal Practice (Fifth Edition). W.B. Saunders, Saint Louis.
- De Vere, R. A., Y. Warren, A. Nicholas, M. E. Mackenzie, and J. P. Higham. 2011. Nest site ecology of the cross river gorilla at the Kagwene Gorilla Sanctuary, Cameroon, with

special reference to anthropogenic influence. American Journal of Primatology 73:253–261.

- Deere, J. R., K. L. Schaber, S. Foerster, I. C. Gilby, J. T. Feldblum, K. VanderWaal, T. M. Wolf,
  D. A. Travis, J. Raphael, I. Lipende, D. Mjungu, A. E. Pusey, E. V. Lonsdorf, and T. R.
  Gillespie. 2021. Gregariousness is associated with parasite species richness in a
  community of wild chimpanzees. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 75:87.
- DePaoli, A., and D. O. Johnsen. 1978. Fatal Strongyloidiasis in Gibbons (*Hylobates lar*). Veterinary Pathology 15:31–39.
- Díaz, S., J. Settele, E. S. Brondízio, H. T. Ngo, J. Agard, A. Arneth, P. Balvanera, K. A.
  Brauman, S. H. M. Butchart, K. M. A. Chan, L. A. Garibaldi, K. Ichii, J. Liu, S. M.
  Subramanian, G. F. Midgley, P. Miloslavich, Z. Molnár, D. Obura, A. Pfaff, S. Polasky,
  A. Purvis, J. Razzaque, B. Reyers, R. R. Chowdhury, Y.-J. Shin, I. Visseren-Hamakers,
  K. J. Willis, and C. N. Zayas. 2019. Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth
  points to the need for transformative change. Science 366:eaax3100.
- Dunn, A., R. Bergl, D. Byler, S. Eben-Ebai, D. N. Etiendem, R. Fotso, R. Ikfuingei, I. Imong, C. Jameson, E. J. Macfie, B. J. Morgan, A. Nchanji, A. Nicholas, L. Nkembi, F. Omeni, J. F. Oates, A. Pokempner, S. Sawyer, and E. A. Williamson. 2014. Revised Regional Action Plan for the Conservation of the Cross River Gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) 2014–2019. Technical Report, IUCN/SSC Primate Specialist Group and Wildlife Conservation Society.
- Enuoh, O. O., and A. U. Ogogo. 2018. Assessing Tropical Deforestation and Biodiversity Loss in the Cross River Rainforest of Nigeria. Open Journal of Forestry 08:393–408.

- Etiendem, D. N., N. Funwi-Gabga, N. Tagg, L. Hens, and E. K. Indah. 2013. The Cross River
  Gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) at Mawambi Hills, South-West Cameroon: Habitat
  Suitability and Vulnerability to Anthropogenic Disturbance. Folia Primatologica 84:18–31.
- Etiendem, D. N., and N. Tagg. 2013. Feeding Ecology of Cross River Gorillas (Gorilla gorilla diehli) at Mawambi Hills: The Influence of Resource Seasonality. International Journal of Primatology 34:1261–1280.
- Fitz, J., Ademola. A. Adenle, and C. Ifejika Speranza. 2022. Increasing signs of forest fragmentation in the Cross River National Park in Nigeria: Underlying drivers and need for sustainable responses. Ecological Indicators 139:108943.
- Foley, J. A., R. DeFries, G. P. Asner, C. Barford, G. Bonan, S. R. Carpenter, F. S. Chapin, M. T. Coe, G. C. Daily, H. K. Gibbs, J. H. Helkowski, T. Holloway, E. A. Howard, C. J. Kucharik, C. Monfreda, J. A. Patz, I. C. Prentice, N. Ramankutty, and P. K. Snyder. 2005. Global Consequences of Land Use. Science 309:570–574.
- Freeman, A. S., J. M. Kinsella, C. Cipolletta, S. L. Deem, and W. B. Karesh. 2004.
  Endoparasites of Western Lowland Gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla gorilla*) at Bai Hokou,
  Central African Republic. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 40:775–781.
- Frey, B. B. 2018. The SAGE Encyclopedia of Educational Research, Measurement, and Evaluation. SAGE Publications, Inc., 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks, California 91320.
- Gillespie, T. R. 2006. Noninvasive Assessment of Gastrointestinal Parasite Infections in Free-Ranging Primates. International Journal of Primatology 27:1129–1143.

- Gillespie, T. R., and C. A. Chapman. 2006. Prediction of Parasite Infection Dynamics in Primate Metapopulations Based on Attributes of Forest Fragmentation. Conservation Biology 20:441–448.
- Gillespie, T. R., E. V. Lonsdorf, E. P. Canfield, D. J. Meyer, Y. Nadler, J. Raphael, A. E. Pusey,
  J. Pond, J. Pauley, T. Mlengeya, and D. A. Travis. 2010. Demographic and ecological
  effects on patterns of parasitism in eastern chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii*)
  in Gombe National Park, Tanzania. American Journal of Physical Anthropology
  143:534–544.
- Gillespie, T. R., D. Morgan, J. C. Deutsch, M. S. Kuhlenschmidt, J. S. Salzer, K. Cameron, T. Reed, and C. Sanz. 2009. A Legacy of Low-Impact Logging does not Elevate Prevalence of Potentially Pathogenic Protozoa in Free-Ranging Gorillas and Chimpanzees in the Republic of Congo: Logging and Parasitism in African Apes. EcoHealth 6:557–564.
- Goldberg, T. L., T. R. Gillespie, I. B. Rwego, E. L. Estoff, and C. A. Chapman. 2008. Forest Fragmentation as Cause of Bacterial Transmission among Nonhuman Primates, Humans, and Livestock, Uganda. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14:1375–1382.
- Gottdenker, N. L., D. G. Streicker, C. L. Faust, and C. R. Carroll. 2014. Anthropogenic Land Use Change and Infectious Diseases: A Review of the Evidence. EcoHealth 11:619–632.
- Goussard, B., J. -Y. Collet, Y. Garin, C. E. G. Tutin, and M. Fernandez. 1983. The Intestinal Entodiniomorph Ciliates of Wild Lowland Gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla gorilla ji*n Gabon, West Africa. Journal of Medical Primatology 12:239–249.
- Harper III, J. S., J. M. Rice, W. T. London, D. L. Sly, and C. Middleton. 1982. Disseminated strongyloidiasis in *Erythrocebus patas*. American Journal of Primatology 3:89–98.

- Hartig, F., and L. Lohse. 2022, December. DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level / Mixed) Regression Models. CRAN.
- Hasegawa, H., B. Kalousova, M. R. McLennan, D. Modry, I. Profousova-Psenkova, K. A. Shutt-Phillips, A. Todd, M. A. Huffman, and K. J. Petrzelkova. 2016. Strongyloides infections of humans and great apes in Dzanga-Sangha Protected Areas, Central African Republic and in degraded forest fragments in Bulindi, Uganda. Parasitology International 65:367–370.
- Hasegawa, H., D. Modrý, M. Kitagawa, K. A. Shutt, A. Todd, B. Kalousová, I. Profousová, and
  K. J. Petrželková. 2014. Humans and Great Apes Cohabiting the Forest Ecosystem in
  Central African Republic Harbour the Same Hookworms. PLoS Neglected Tropical
  Diseases 8:e2715.
- Holmes, D. D., S. D. Kosanke, G. L. White, and W. B. Lemmon. 1980. Fatal enterobiasis in a chimpanzee. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 177:911–913.
- Howells, M. E., J. Pruetz, and T. R. Gillespie. 2011. Patterns of gastro-intestinal parasites and commensals as an index of population and ecosystem health: the case of sympatric western chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes verus*) and guinea baboons (*Papio hamadryas papio*) at Fongoli, Senegal. American Journal of Primatology 73:173–179.
- Huang, A. 2017. Mean-parametrized Conway–Maxwell–Poisson regression models for dispersed counts. Statistical Modelling 17:359–380.
- Huffman, M. A., and C. A. Chapman, editors. 2009. Primate parasite ecology: the dynamics and study of host-parasite relationships. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK ; New York.

- Imong, I., M. M. Robbins, R. Mundry, R. Bergl, and H. S. Kühl. 2014a. Distinguishing ecological constraints from human activity in species range fragmentation: the case of Cross River gorillas: Species range fragmentation. Animal Conservation 17:323–331.
- Imong, I., M. M. Robbins, R. Mundry, R. Bergl, and H. S. Kühl. 2014b. Informing conservation management about structural versus functional connectivity: A case-study of Cross River gorillas: Cross River Gorilla Habitat Connectivity. American Journal of Primatology 76:978–988.
- Jaureguiberry, P., N. Titeux, M. Wiemers, D. E. Bowler, L. Coscieme, A. S. Golden, C. A. Guerra, U. Jacob, Y. Takahashi, J. Settele, S. Díaz, Z. Molnár, and A. Purvis. 2022. The direct drivers of recent global anthropogenic biodiversity loss. Science Advances 8:eabm9982.
- Johnson, P. T. J., D. L. Preston, J. T. Hoverman, and B. E. LaFonte. 2013. Host and parasite diversity jointly control disease risk in complex communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110:16916–16921.
- Jones, K. E., N. G. Patel, M. A. Levy, A. Storeygard, D. Balk, J. L. Gittleman, and P. Daszak. 2008. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature 451:990–993.
- Kalema-Zikusoka, G., J. M. Rothman, and M. T. Fox. 2005. Intestinal parasites and bacteria of mountain gorillas (*Gorilla beringei beringei*) in Bwindi Impenetrable National Park, Uganda. Primates 46:59–63.
- Keesing, F., L. K. Belden, P. Daszak, A. Dobson, C. D. Harvell, R. D. Holt, P. Hudson, A.
  Jolles, K. E. Jones, C. E. Mitchell, S. S. Myers, T. Bogich, and R. S. Ostfeld. 2010.
  Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. Nature 468:647–652.

- Keesing, F., R. D. Holt, and R. S. Ostfeld. 2006. Effects of species diversity on disease risk. Ecology Letters 9:485–498.
- Kontgis, K., and et al. 2021. Global land use/land cover with Sentinel-2 and deep learning. IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium.
- Krause, T., T. Nielsen, L. Guia-Diaz, V. Lehsten, O. Olsson, and F. Zelli. 2019. What future for primates? Conservation struggles in the forests of Cross River State, Nigeria. Sustainability Science 14:1515–1529.
- Kuthyar, S., M. M. Kowalewski, D. M. Roellig, E. K. Mallott, Y. Zeng, T. R. Gillespie, and K.
  R. Amato. 2021. Effects of anthropogenic habitat disturbance and *Giardia duodenalis* infection on a sentinel species' gut bacteria. Ecology and Evolution 11:45–57.
- Landsoud-Soukate, J., C. E. G. Tutin, and M. Fernandez. 1995. Intestinal parasites of sympatric gorillas and chimpanzees in the Lopé Reserve, Gabon. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology 89:73–79.
- Lenth, R. V., B. Bolker, P. Buerkner, I. Giné-Vázquez, M. Herve, M. Jung, J. Love, F. Miguez,H. Riebl, and H. Singmann. 2023, March 8. emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, akaLeast-Squares Means.
- Lüdecke, D., M. S. Ben-Shachar, I. Patil, P. Waggoner, and D. Makowski. 2023, January. Performance: assessment of regression models performance. CRAN.
- Lynch, H. J., J. T. Thorson, and A. O. Shelton. 2014. Dealing with under- and over-dispersed count data in life history, spatial, and community ecology. Ecology 95:3173–3180.
- Martínez-Mota, R., G. Pozo-Montuy, Y. M. Bonilla Sánchez, and T. R. Gillespie. 2018. Effects of anthropogenic stress on the presence of parasites in a threatened population of black howler monkeys (*Alouatta pigra*). Therya 9:161–169.

- Masi, S., S. Chauffour, O. Bain, A. Todd, J. Guillot, and S. Krief. 2012. Seasonal Effects on Great Ape Health: A Case Study of Wild Chimpanzees and Western Gorillas. PLoS ONE 7:e49805.
- McClure, H. M., and N. B. Guilloud. 1971. Comparative pathogology of the chimpanzee. Pages 103–272 The chimpanzee.
- Medkour, H., I. Amona, Y. Laidoudi, B. Davoust, I. Bitam, A. Levasseur, J. Akiana, G. Diatta,
  L. Pacheco, S. Gorsane, C. Sokhna, R. A. Hernandez-Aguilar, A. Barciela, F. Fenollar,
  D. Raoult, and O. Mediannikov. 2020. Parasitic Infections in African Humans and Non-Human Primates. Pathogens 9:561.
- Mehlman, P. T., and D. M. Doran. 2002. Influencing Western Gorilla Nest Construction at Mondika Research Center. International Journal of Primatology 23:1257–1285.
- Millar, R. B., and M. J. Anderson. 2004. Remedies for pseudoreplication. Fisheries Research 70:397–407.
- Nkemnyi, M. F., A. de Haas, N. D. Etiendem, and F. Ndobegang. 2013. Making hard choices: balancing indigenous communities livelihood and Cross River gorilla conservation in the Lebialem–Mone Forest landscape, Cameroon. Environment, Development and Sustainability 15:841–857.

North Carolina Zoo: Conservation and Research Report. 2020. . North Carolina Zoo.

Nsubuga, A. M., M. M. Robbins, A. D. Roeder, P. A. Morin, C. Boesch, and L. Vigilant. 2004. Factors affecting the amount of genomic DNA extracted from ape faeces and the identification of an improved sample storage method: GETTING MORE DNA FROM FAECES. Molecular Ecology 13:2089–2094.

- Oates, J. F., K. L. McFarland, J. L. Groves, R. A. Bergl, J. M. Linder, and T. R. Disotell. 2002. The Cross River gorilla: Natural history and status of a neglected and critically endangered subspecies. Pages 472–497 *in* A. B. Taylor and M. L. Goldsmith, editors. Gorilla Biology. First edition. Cambridge University Press.
- Okoro, R. C., and J. U. Ogbuefi. 2016. Assessing Effectiveness of Forest Resource Management Approaches in Niger Delta: Comparative Analysis of Mbe Mountains and Cr National Park:24.
- Pafčo, B., J. A. Benavides, I. Pšenková-Profousová, D. Modrý, B. Červená, K. A. Shutt, H. Hasegawa, T. Fuh, A. F. Todd, and K. J. Petrželková. 2017. Do habituation, host traits and seasonality have an impact on protist and helminth infections of wild western lowland gorillas? Parasitology Research 116:3401–3410.
- Petrželková, K. J., C. Uwamahoro, B. Pafčo, B. Červená, P. Samaš, A. Mudakikwa, R. Muvunyi,
  P. Uwingeli, K. Gilardi, J. Nziza, J. B. Noheri, W. Eckardt, F. Ndagijimana, B. Ssebide,
  R. Okwirokello, F. Nizeyimana, E. K. Syaluha, G. Nzayisenga, L. Flores Girón, M.
  Bahizi, A. E. Ntwari, J.-P. Lukusa, J. C. Tumushime, D. Mangura, J. Mapilanga, A.
  Kalonji, R. Aruho, A. Stryková, Z. Tehlarová, R. Cameira, L. Lowenstine, J. Šlapeta, D.
  Romportl, N. Ferrari, M. Cranfield, and D. Modrý. 2021. Heterogeneity in patterns of
  helminth infections across populations of mountain gorillas (*Gorilla beringei beringei*).
  Scientific Reports 11:10869.
- Pinheiro, J., D. Bates, S. DebRoy, D. Sarkar, S. Heisterkamp, B. Van Willigen, and J. Ranke.2020, January 30. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. CRAN R.
- Pollet, T. V., G. Stulp, S. P. Henzi, and L. Barrett. 2015. Taking the aggravation out of data aggregation: A conceptual guide to dealing with statistical issues related to the pooling of

individual-level observational data: Data Aggregation and the Ecological Fallacy. American Journal of Primatology 77:727–740.

QGIS Geographic Information System. 2022. . QGIS Association.

- R Core Team. 2009, 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rothman, J. M., A. N. Pell, and D. D. Bowman. 2008. Host-Parasite Ecology of the Helminths in Mountain Gorillas. Journal of Parasitology 94:834–840.
- Ruxton, G. D., and G. Beauchamp. 2008. Some suggestions about appropriate use of the Kruskal–Wallis test. Animal Behaviour 76:1083–1087.
- Sawyer, S. C. 2012. The Ecology and Conservation of the Critically Endangered Cross River Gorilla in Cameroon. University of California, Berkeley.
- Sawyer, S. C., and J. S. Brashares. 2013. Applying resource selection functions at multiple scales to prioritize habitat use by the endangered Cross River gorilla. Diversity and Distributions 19:943–954.
- Shearer, C. L., and V. O. Ezenwa. 2020. Rainfall as a driver of seasonality in parasitism. International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife 12:8–12.
- Sirima, C., C. Bizet, H. Hamou, B. Červená, T. Lemarcis, A. Esteban, M. Peeters, E.
  Mpoudi Ngole, I. M. Mombo, F. Liégeois, K. J. Petrželková, M. Boussinesq, and S.
  Locatelli. 2021. Soil-transmitted helminth infections in free-ranging non-human primates from Cameroon and Gabon. Parasites & Vectors 14:354.
- Sleeman, J., L. Meader, A. Mudakikwa, J. Foster, and S. Patton. 2000. Gastrointestinal parasites of mountain gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla beringei*) in the Parc National des Volcans, Rwanda. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine 31:322–328.

Smith, C., A. Uzal, and M. Warren. 2020. Statistics in R for Biodiveristy Conservation.

- Stromberg, B. E. 1997. Environmental factors influencing transmission. Veterinary Parasitology 72:247–264.
- Tchakoudeu Kehou, S., K. Daïnou, and P. Lagoute. 2021. The reasons great ape populations are still abundant in logged concessions: Environmental drivers and the influence of management plans. Forest Ecology and Management 483:118911.

Terrain. 2022, December 14. . Environmental Systems Research Institue (ESRI).

- Thatcher, H. R., C. T. Downs, and N. F. Koyama. 2018. Using Parasitic Load to Measure the Effect of Anthropogenic Disturbance on Vervet Monkeys. EcoHealth 15:676–681.
- UNEP-WCMC, and IUCN. 2023. Protected Planet: The World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) and World Database on Other Effective Area-based Conservation Measures (WD-OECM). shapefile.
- Vitousek, P. M., H. A. Mooney, J. Lubchenco, and J. M. Melillo. 1997. Human Domination of Earth's Ecosystems 277:7.
- Wade, A. H., and N. Malone. 2021. Ecological, Historical, Economic, and Political Factors Shaping the Human–Gorilla Interface in the Mone-Oku Forest, Cameroon. Diversity 13:175.
- Waller, B. M., L. Warmelink, K. Liebal, J. Micheletta, and K. E. Slocombe. 2013.Pseudoreplication: a widespread problem in primate communication research. Animal Behaviour 86:483–488.
- Waruiru, R. M., S. M. Thamsborg, P. Nansen, N. C. Kyvsgaard, H. O. Bogh, W. K. Munyua, and J. M. Gathuma. 2001. The Epidemiology of Gastrointestinal Nematodes of Dairy Cattle in Central Kenya. Tropical Animal Health and Production 33:173–187.

- Yager, G. O., A. A. Alarape, O. J. Onaji, and S. Acha. 2022. Impact of Anthropogenic Activities on Vegetation Cover and Mammalian Herbivores in Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Cross River State, Nigeria:23.
- Yaro, C. A., E. Kogi, and S. A. Luka. 2018. Spatial Distribution and Modeling of Soil
   Transmitted Helminthes Infection in Nigeria. Advances in Infectious Diseases 08:82–
   107.
- Young, H., R. H. Griffin, C. L. Wood, and C. L. Nunn. 2013. Does habitat disturbance increase infectious disease risk for primates? Ecology Letters 16:656–663.
- Zommers, Z., D. W. Macdonald, P. J. Johnson, and T. R. Gillespie. 2013. Impact of human activities on chimpanzee ground use and parasitism (*Pan troglodytes*): Researcher presence and infection dynamics. Conservation Letters 6:264–273.
- Zuur, A. F., and E. N. Ieno. 2016. A protocol for conducting and presenting results of regressiontype analyses. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7:636–645.
- Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, and C. S. Elphick. 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems: *Data exploration*. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 1:3–14.
- Zuur, Ieno, Walker, Saveliev, and Smith. 2009. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. First edition. Springer New York, New York.

## 7. Tables

 Table 1 Frequency of samples from different Cross River gorilla individuals

Gorilla ID	Frequency	Site
	(N=)	
CRG20	1	Mbe
CRG219	1	Afi
CRG226	1	Mbe
CRG230	1	Afi
CRG326	2	Mbe
CRG339	1	Mbe
CRG352	1	Mbe
CRG368	1	Afi
CRG369	1	Afi
CRG370	1	Afi
CRG373	1	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_01	7	Mbe
CRGor_02	11	Mbe
CRGor_03	6	Mbe
CRGor_04	16	Mbe
CRGor_05	6	Mbe
CRGor_06	8	Mbe
CRGor_07	17	Mbe

CRGor_08	14	Afi
CRGor_09	13	Afi
CRGor_10	11	Afi
CRGor_11	34	Afi
CRGor_12	12	Afi
CRGor_13	1	Afi
CRGor_14	3	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_15	5	Mbe
CRGor_16	2	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_18	4	Mbe
CRGor_21	3	Mbe
CRGor_22	2	Mbe
CRGor_23	3	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_24	1	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_25	2	CRNP-Boshi Extension
CRGor_26	3	Mbe
No ID	156	

Table 2 Prevalence of intestinal helminth and protozoan taxa estimated by random effects models in samples from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n = 196).

Parasite Taxon	Samples	Individuals Tested	Total Prevalence (%)	Std. Error
	tested positive	positive (n =34)		
l	27	14	13.76	2.89
Gorillaphicus sp.	10	7	5.05	1.66
unidentified "Type	9	7	4.77	1.65
A" entodiniomorph				
ciliate				
unidentified "Type	15	9	8.06	2.54
B" entodiniomorph				
ciliate				
Prototapirella sp.	130	28	67.79	15.11
Oesophagostomum	5	5	2.26	1.13
sp.				
Necator sp.	5	4	2.26	1.13
Strongyloides sp.	94	24	43.58	6.27
Trichostrongylus	57	17	27.88	4.67
sp.				

Table 3 Prevalence of intestinal helminth and protozoan taxa estimated by random effects models in samples from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =89).

Parasite Taxon	Samples tested	Individuals Tested	Total	Std. Error
	positive	positive (n =11)	Prevalence	
Troglodytella sp.	8	5	9.28	3.37
Gorillaphicus sp.	4	3	4.50	2.21
unidentified "Type A"	4	3	5.20	2.86
entodiniomorph ciliate				
unidentified "Type B"	4	2	4.21	3.36
entodiniomorph ciliate				
Prototapirella sp.	62	9	70.36	5.33
Oesophagostomum sp.,	4	4	4.49	2.21
Necator sp.	4	3	4.49	2.21
Strongyloides sp.	67	9	75.28	4.60
Trichostrongylus sp.	37	9	45.49	8.14

Table 4 Prevalence of intestinal helminth and protozoan taxa estimated by random effects models in samples from Cross River Gorillas at Mbe Mountains Community Forest between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =96).

Parasite Taxon	Samples tested	Individuals	Total	Std. Error
	positive	Tested positive (n	Prevalence	
		=17)		
Troglodytella sp.	19	9	19.79	4.09
Gorillaphicus sp.	6	4	6.01	2.64
unidentified "Type A"	5	4	5.25	2.40
entodiniomorph ciliate				
unidentified "Type B"	11	7	11.84	3.86
entodiniomorph ciliate				
Prototapirella sp.	63	16	65.63	4.87
Oesophagostomum sp.,	1	1	1.05	1.06
Necator sp.	1	1	1.19	1.22
Strongyloides sp.	21	11	21.88	4.24
Trichostrongylus sp.	19	8	20.39	5.22

Table 5 Prevalence of intestinal helminth and protozoan taxa estimated by random effects models in samples from Cross River Gorillas at the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n = 11).

Parasite Taxon	Samples tested	Individuals Tested	Total	Std. Error
	positive	positive (n =6)	Prevalence	

Troglodytella sp.	0	0	0	0
Gorillaphicus sp.	0	0	0	0
unidentified "Type A"	0	0	0	0
entodiniomorph ciliate				
unidentified "Type B"	0	0	0	0
entodiniomorph ciliate				
Prototapirella sp.	5	4	45.86	16.79
Oesophagostomum sp.	0	0	0	0
Necator sp.	0	0	0	0
Strongyloides sp.	6	4	54.14	16.79
Trichostrongylus sp.	1	1	9.10	9.18

Table 6 Frequency and proportion of parasite richness of all samples collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =196).

Number of parasite	Proportion of	Number of samples (n	Number of
taxon	Samples (%)	= 196)	Individuals
0	14.28	28	18
1	29.59	58	22
2	26.02	51	22
3	20.41	40	14

4	8.67	17	11
5	1.02	2	2

Table 7 Frequency and proportion of commensal parasite richness of all samples collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n = 196).

Number of parasite	Proportion of Samples	Number of samples (n	Number of individuals
taxon	(%)	=196)	
0	14.28	58	23
1	29.59	92	27
2	26.02	35	16
3	20.41	10	7
4	8.67	1	1

Table 8 Frequency and proportion of pathogenic parasite richness of all samples collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =196).

Number of parasite	Proportion of Samples	Number of samples (n	Number of
taxon	(%)	=196)	Individuals
0	42.35	83	23

1	35.2	69	24
2	19.89	39	14
3	25.51	5	4

Table 9 Frequency and proportion of parasite richness of samples grouped by site collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n = 196).

	AFI (N=89)			BOSHI (N=11)			MBE (N=96)		
Number	Number of	Number of	Proportion	Number of	Number of	Proportion	Number of	Number of	Proportion
of	samples	Individuals	of Samples	samples	Individuals	of Samples	samples	Individuals	of Samples
parasite			(%)			(%)			(%)
taxon									
0	6	4	6.74	5	4	45.45	17	10	17.71
1	22	5	24.72	1	1	9.09	36	16	37.5
2	22	7	24.72	4	4	36.36	25	12	26.04
3	27	6	30.34	1	1	9.09	12	7	12.5
4	10	6	11.24	0		0	7	5	7.29
5	2	2	2.25	0		0	0	0	0

Table 10 Frequency and proportion of commensal parasite richness of samples grouped by site collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =196).

	AFI (N=89)			BOSHI (N=11)			MBE (N=96)		
Number	Number	Number of	Proportion	Number of	Number of	Proportion	Number	Number of	Proportion
of	of	Individuals	of	samples	Individual	of	of	Individuals	of Samples
parasite	samples		Samples		s	Samples	samples		(%)
taxon			(%)			(%)			
0	24	7	26.97	6	4	54.55	29	12	30.21
1	49	8	55.06	5	4	45.45	38	16	39.58
2	13	6	14.61	0	0	0	22	10	22.92
3	3	2	3.37	0	0	0	7	5	7.29
4	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1.04

Table 11 Frequency and proportion of pathogenic parasite richness of samples grouped by site collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n = 196).

	AFI (N=89)			BOSHI (N=11)			MBE (N=96)		
Number	Number	Number of	Proportion	Number of	Number of	Proportion	Number	Number of	Proportion
of	of	Individuals	of	samples	Individual	of	of	Individuals	of Samples
parasite	samples		Samples		s	Samples	samples		(%)
taxon			(%)			(%)			

0	16	5	17.98	5	4	38.46	62	15	64.58
1	37	7	41.57	5	4	38.46	28	14	29.17
2	32	8	35.96	1	1	7.69	6	5	6.25
3	4	3	4.49	0	0	0.00	1	1	1.04

Table 12 Frequency and proportion of number of disturbances within Cross River gorilla daily travel distance per sample collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =235).

	ALL (N=235)	
Range	Frequency (n =)	Proportion (%)
0-100	3	1.28
100-150	10	4.26
150-200	37	15.74
200-250	73	31.06
250-300	55	23.40
300-350	34	14.47
350-400	23	9.79
Table 13 Frequency and proportion of number of disturbances within Cross River gorilla daily travel distance per sample collected from Cross River Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, Mbe Mountains Community Forest, and the Boshi extension of Cross River National Park between November 20, 2016, and March 20, 2018 (n =196).

	AFI		BOSHI		MBE	
	(N=111)		(N=13)		(N=111)	
Range	Frequency	Proportion	Frequency	Proportion	Frequency	Proportion
		(%)		(%)		(%)
0-100	2	1.80	1	7.69	0	0
100-150	3	2.70	0	0.00	7	6.31
150-200	4	3.60	2	15.38	31	27.93
200-250	31	27.93	3	23.08	39	35.14
250-300	31	27.93	7	53.85	17	15.32
300-350	17	15.32	0	0.00	17	15.32
350-400	23	20.72	0	0.00	0	0

Table 14 Estimated regression parameters, standard errors, z-values, and P-values for the Conway-Maxwell-Poisson GLMM presented in equation (1) against complete parasite richness. The estimated value for,  $\sigma_{\text{GorillaID}}$  is 3.0 x10<sup>-10</sup> and  $\sigma_{\text{Date is}}$  0.049.

Parameter	Estimate	Std.	Z value	P value	Exp(Estimate)	Exp(95% CI)
		Error				
Intercept	0.20	0.12	1.62	0.11	1.22	(0.96, 1.56)
Disturbance1.5	-0.01	0.06	-0.14	0.89	0.99	(0.89, 1.11)

Altitude	0.11	0.06	1.79	0.07	1.11	(0.99,1.26)
Individual Sample	-0.03	0.05	-0.48	0.63	0.97	(0.88,1.08)
Counts						
Site Sample	0.17	0.07	2.37	0.02*	1.19	(1.03,1.37)
counts						
Sex	0.19	0.10	1.82	0.07	1.21	(0.99,1.48)
Season	0.47	0.14	3.33	0.001*	1.60	(1.21,2.10)

Table 15 Estimated regression parameters, standard errors, z-values, and P-values for the Conway-Maxwell-Poisson GLMM presented in eqn (1) against commensal parasite richness. The estimated value for,  $\sigma_{\text{GorillaID}}$  is 3.0 x10<sup>-10</sup> and  $\sigma_{\text{Date is}}$  0.049.

Parameter	Estimate	Std.	Z value	P value	Exp(Estimate)	Exp(95% CI)
		Error				
Intercept	-0.21	0.15	-1.38	0.17	0.81	(0.61,1.09)
Disturbance1.5	-0.02	0.07	-0.25	0.80	0.98	(0.85,1.13)
Altitude	0.10	0.08	1.32	0.19	1.11	(0.95,1.29)
Individual Sample						
Counts	-0.09	0.07	-1.18	0.24	0.92	(0.79,1.06)
Site Sample						
counts	0.27	0.11	2.50	0.01*	1.31	(1.06,1.61)
Sex	0.20	0.13	1.62	0.11	1.23	(0.96,1.57)
Season	0.11	0.18	0.62	0.54	1.11	(0.79,1.57)

Table 16 Estimated regression parameters, standard errors, z-values, and P-values for the Conway-Maxwell-Poisson GLMM presented in eqn (1) against pathogenic parasite richness. The estimated value for,  $\sigma_{\text{GorillaID}}$  is 3.0 x10<sup>-10</sup> and  $\sigma_{\text{Date is}}$  0.049.

Parameter	Estimate	Std.	Z value	P value	Exp(Estimate)	Exp(95% CI)
		Error				
Intercept	-0.93	0.21	-4.45	< 0.001	0.39	(0.26,0.59)
Disturbance1,5	-0.001	0.08	-0.02	0.99	1.00	(0.86,1.16)
Altitude	0.09	0.09	1.07	0.28	1.10	(0.92, 1.31)
Individual Sample	0.04	0.11	0.38	0.71	1.04	(0.84, 1.29)
Counts						
Site Sample	0.06	0.09	0.66	0.51	1.06	(0.88, 1.28)
counts						
Sex	0.14	0.20	0.68	0.49	1.15	(0.78, 1.69)
Season	0.93	0.24	3.80	<0.001*	2.53	(1.57, 4.09)

## 8. Figures



Figure 1 Map of known Cross River gorilla distribution in Cameroon. The protected lands information came from Protected Planet (UNEP-WCMC and IUCN 2023). The Cross River gorilla habitat was adapted from the 2014 Revised Regional Action plan (Dunn et. al. 2014). The LULC data is the Sentinel-2 10m land use/land cover time series of the world. Produced by Impact Observatory, Microsoft, and Esri (Kontgis et. al. 2021). The western most group of samples is in the Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary, the Eastern and most Northern group of samples is in CRNP-Boshi Extension, and the central group within the community forest is in the Mbe Mountains Community Forest. The smaller set of samples just west of the Cameroon-Nigerian border is Okwa-Hills within CRNP.





Figure 2 Bar chart of prevalence estimated by mixed effects models of enteric parasites in Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) samples measured at three sites in Nigeria.



Figure 3 Histogram of samples infected with enteric parasites and uninfected samples in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) measured at three sites in Nigeria.

Figure 4 Histogram of anthropogenic disturbances recorded by Nigerian SMART patrols at four sites in Nigeria and sorted by disturbance type.





Figure 5 Frequency of number of disturbance observations and Cross River gorilla fecal samples at different altitudes (m).

Figure 6 Frequency of number of disturbance observations within a radius of a Cross River gorilla daily travel distance (1.5km<sup>2</sup>) grouped by site.



Figure 7 Histogram of enteric parasite richness in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) fecal samples measured at three sites in Nigeria.



Figure 8 Histogram of commensal richness in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) fecal samples measured at three sites in Nigeria. Species included are: *Troglodytella sp., Gorillaphicus sp.,* unidentified "Type A" entodiniomorph ciliate, unidentified "Type B" entodiniomorph ciliate, and *Prototapirella sp..* 



Figure 9 Histogram of pathogenic parasite richness in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) fecal samples measured at three sites in Nigeria. Species included are: *Oesophagostomum sp.*, *Necator sp., Strongyloides sp.,* and *Trichostrongylus sp.*.





Figure 10 Boxplot of enteric parasite richness in Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) samples measured at three sites in Nigeria samples grouped by seasonality of collection date.

Figure 11 Boxplot of commensal parasite richness in Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) samples measured at three sites in Nigeria samples grouped by seasonality of collection date. Species included are: *Troglodytella sp., Gorillaphicus sp.,* unidentified "Type A" entodiniomorph ciliate, unidentified "Type B" entodiniomorph ciliate, and *Prototapirella sp..* 



Figure 12 Boxplot of pathogenic parasite richness in Cross River gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) samples measured at three sites in Nigeria samples grouped by seasonality of collection date. Species included are: *Oesophagostomum sp., Necator sp., Strongyloides sp.,* and *Trichostrongylus sp..* 





Figure 13 Boxplot of enteric parasite richness in Cross River gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla diehli*) measured at three sites in Nigeria samples grouped by individuals.

Figure 14 Coefficient plot displaying generalized linear mixed models that examine the relationship between anthropogenic disturbance and other environmental factors and enteric parasite richness. Different models are differentiated with colors. Total parasite richness in blue, commensal parasite richness in green and pathogenic richness in red.



Figure 15 Coefficient plot displaying generalized linear mixed models that examine the relationship between anthropogenic disturbance and other environmental factors and enteric parasite and commensal prevalence. Different models are differentiated with colors.



## Number of individuals infected each month

Figure 16Number of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of all samples collected. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



## Proportion of individuals infected each month

Figure 17Proportion of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of all samples collected. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Figure 18Number of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Figure 19Proportion of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Number of individuals infected each month at CRNP-Boshi Extension

Figure 20Number of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at CRNP-Boshi Extension. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



## Proportion of individuals infected each month at CRNP-Boshi Extension

Figure 21Proportion of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at CRNP-Boshi Extnesion Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Number of individuals infected each month at Mbe mountains Community Fores

Figure 22Number of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at Mbe Mountains Community Forest. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Figure 23Proportion of individual gorillas infected with various parasites and commensals over time of samples collected at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary. Data was aggregated by month and the number of unique individuals with the presence of each taxon was recorded. Blue background is indicative of the wet season and green is indicative of the dry season.



Number of Samples per Individual

Figure 24Number of samples collected from each individual gorilla throughout the course of the study.



Figure 25Pattern of total richness for each individual gorilla over the course of the study. Total richness ranged between 0 and 5 taxa. Individuals with only 1 sample collected were omitted from this figure. Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary are in red, those at Mbe Mountains Community Forest are in green and those from CRNP-Boshi Extension are in blue.



Figure 26Pattern of commensal richness for each individual gorilla over the course of the study. Total richness ranged between 0 and 4 taxa. Individuals with only 1 sample collected were omitted from this figure. Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary are in red, those at Mbe Mountains Community Forest are in green and those from CRNP-Boshi Extension are in blue.



Figure 27Pattern of pathogenic richness for each individual gorilla over the course of the study. Total richness ranged between 0 and 3 taxa. Individuals with only 1 sample collected were omitted from this figure. Gorillas at Afi Mountain Wildlife Sanctuary are in red, those at Mbe Mountains Community Forest are in green and those from CRNP-Boshi Extension are in blue.